The Worker members thanked the Government representative
for a detailed report which was very helpful in improving under-
standing of the situation with regard to the difficulties in the appli-
cation of the Convention in the United Republic of Tanzania. How-
ever, they noted that the observation by the Committee of Experts
was of a very general nature and would not help anyone who was
not familiar with the case to understand the issues involved. They
emphasized that, although the ILO supervisory system might have
many weaknesses, there was nothing superior to it throughout the
United Nations system in the field of human rights instruments, as
acknowledged by human rights specialists. The supervisory system
enjoyed great legitimacy and had proven to be effective, based on
dialogue and cooperation and moral sanctions. However, it was also
a fragile and vulnerable system and it was remarkable that it had
worked so well for 80 years. The system was dependent on so many
aspects which, although enshrined in the Constitution, were of a
voluntary nature. The Conference Committee had developed many
devices to induce governments to improve their implementation of
ratified Conventions, including encouragement, criticism, technical
assistance and direct contacts. Serious cases of non-compliance
over a long period of time were placed in a special paragraph of the
Committee’s report to the Conference. Rather than a sanction, this
was the most visible method available of communicating the special
concerns of the Committee to the Conference. Such special para-
graphs were often effective in achieving progress, since most gov-
ernments did not appreciate being mentioned in this way. Never-
theless, if the governments concerned did not react in any way, then
the system did not work as it should. This was the case with regard
to the application of the Convention in the United Republic of Tan-
zania. The Committee had been examining the case for decades
and had mentioned it in special paragraphs repeatedly. However,
out of a fear that the very frequency of such mentions might blunt
this instrument, the case had not been included in a special para-
graph for the past decade. The Worker members emphasized that
this had not been due to any improvement in national law and prac-
tice.

The basic problem consisted of the fact that the legislation was
of such a general nature that it gave wide discretionary powers to
the authorities in mainland Tanzania and in Zanzibar. Some exam-
ples included the power of the Government to prohibit activities in
the area of freedom of association and freedom of assembly when it
considered such a prohibition to be in the public interest or in the
interests of peace and order, or of public health. People engaged in
such activities could be imprisoned and obliged to perform labour.
Another example consisted of persons who were not performing
their job properly, who could also be imprisoned and forced to per-
form labour. Workers who were employed by specified authorities
and who caused financial loss or damage to their employer through
negligence or misconduct could be subjected to similar sanctions.
Forced labour could also be imposed for breaches of discipline by
seafarers. Compulsory arbitration could also be imposed in the
event of labour disputes, making it possible to declare all strikes
illegal and to imprison the strikers and force them to perform work.
In this respect, as in previous years, the Government representative
had endeavoured to explain that restrictions were not placed on
political activities and that the provisions were only used to curb
public unrest and disorder. The Government had also been stating
for many years that new legislation bringing the situation into line
with the Convention was forthcoming and that there had been few
convictions. However, despite the repeated requests by the Com-
mittee of Experts, no information had been made available on the
implementation of the law in practice.

The Worker members welcomed the appearance of goodwill
demonstrated by the Government representative and the fact that
no attempt had been made to disagree with the findings of the Com-
mittee of Experts. The Government representative had also said
that a new approach was being adopted. In this respect the Worker
members appreciated the difficulties arising out of the country’s low
level of development and the need to coordinate the issues raised
with other authorities, such as the Ministry of Justice and the Interi-
or Ministry. Nevertheless, major questions remained. The good
faith of the Government remained to be proven; the obstacles
which had, and which continued to prevent the Government from
reacting appropriately to the recommendations of the Committee
of Experts and the Conference Committee required clarification:
and the Government’s want and need of ILO assistance to improve
the situation was also to be demonstrated. In view of the great diffi-
culty in achieving any progress in the case, the Worker members
proposed that the Government representative should be invited to
propose the appropriate means of addressing the very serious issues
under review.

The Employer members noted that the observation by the Com-
mittee of Experts on the case did not contain much information
concerning the actual facts of the case or the specific violations of
the Convention. However, they observed that in her statement the

23/104

Government representative had admitted the existence of viola-
tions of the Convention and had recognized that the process of leg-
islative reform was too slow in meeting the requirements of the
Convention. They also noted the existence of draft legislation
which would repeal all the provisions which were incompatible with
the Convention. However, the Committee of Experts’ observation
referred to the various laws without explaining their content and
did not indicate precisely the provisions which would be repealed
by the draft legislation. The Employer members emphasized that,
while the facts of the case had not been presented clearly by the
Committee of Experts, it was clear that numerous laws needed to
be reviewed and amended. Finally, they endorsed the suggestion by
the Worker members that the Government representative should
be invited to indicate precisely the concrete measures envisaged by
the Government to meet the requirements of the Convention. They
also expressed the view that the case should be reviewed by the
Committee on a more regular basis.

In response, the Government representative emphasized that
account needed to be taken of the great difference between the sit-
uation before 1990, when the country had had a socialist economy
and a single-party system, and its development since 1990 to a mul-
tipartite State with a market economy. While the political will might
not have existed before 1990 to remedy the problems with regard to
the application of the Convention, the situation was now very dif-
ferent. Some 40 legislative texts had been identified as breaching
human rights, including the rights set out in the Convention. The
reform process, although extremely slow, had recently produced
the Trade Union Act, 1998, and the Employment Act, 1999, which
repealed legislation that had been criticized by the Committee of
Experts. Moreover, the labour law reform project, for which fund-
ing had been secured, was designed to review both labour legisla-
tion and other laws which impinged upon labour issues. This repre-
sented a fundamental ideological shift, which had resulted in the
recognition that many legal texts needed to be amended. She indi-
cated that ILO support and assistance for the project on the harmo-
nization of labour law in the east African subregion would be wel-
come.

The Worker members expressed gratitude for the further infor-
mation provided by the Government representative. However,
they regretted that she had not given any idea of what action the
ILO could take to help bring about change. They observed that the
process of reforming the legislation had been going on for many
years. Moreover, they questioned whether a subregional exercise to
harmonize labour laws would have any beneficial effect on the ap-
plication of the Convention if the national law had not been
brought into compliance with the Convention.

The Committee noted the explanations provided by the Gov-
ernment representative, as well as the discussion that took place in
the Committee. The Committee had already urged the Govern-
ment in 1992 to eliminate the discrepancies between national legis-
lation and the Convention, as had the Committee of Experts for a
number of years. The Committee noted the assurances that a polit-
ical will existed to apply the Convention, and urged the Govern-
ment to adopt in the very near future the necessary measures to
ensure that this fundamental Convention, ratified almost 40 years
ago, was applied in both law and practice. It noted that new steps
were being taken to accelerate the necessary amendment of the rel-
evant legislation. It called upon the Government to supply detailed
information on the progress made in bringing the legislation into
conformity with the requirements of the Convention, to supply oth-
er information sought by the Committee of Experts, including cop-
ies of the various legislative texts which had been requested. The
Committee reminded the Government that it could, if it so desired,
request the technical assistance of the Office.

The Government representative added, in conclusion, that the
labour law reform project would include legislation other than la-
bour laws which impinged upon the application of the Convention.
This reform project had already been commenced in her country.
The project to harmonize labour legislation in the east African sub-
region would follow.

Convention No. 111: Discrimination (Employment and
Occupation), 1958

Brazil (ratification: 1965). A Government representative
thanked the Committee for the opportunity to apprise it of the ef-
forts her Government had made in the battle against all forms of
discrimination in employment and occupation. In 1995, she re-
called, the Government acknowledged the existence of discrimina-
tion and requested technical assistance from the ILO to apply more
fully the various provisions of the Convention through legislation
and in practice. The national tripartite seminar it organized at the
time was a landmark in the struggle against discrimination in Brazil.
Significant steps were taken, successfully, to involve employers’ and


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

workers’ organizations in a study of the issues with remedial action
in view. By way of follow-up in 1997 a national campaign entitled *
Brazil, gender and race” was launched with ILO assistance. From
the outset, the campaign gave widespread publicity with tripartite
support to the principles embodied in the Convention. To show how
widely information on the Convention had been disseminated the
Government representative pointed out that at a recent mass dem-
onstration by peasants under the banner “The land of Brazil cries
out” one of the peasants’ demands was the application of Conven-
tion No. 111. News of the Convention had been spreading widely
and was already reaching rural areas. The Government representa-
tive acknowledged that there was still an untold number of prob-
lems associated with discrimination and that the problem, which
was among the worst violations of human rights, could not easily be
resolved. One problem was that many cases turned on individual
allegations involving a single worker and employer, and these
proved difficult to substantiate. The solution might lie in height-
ened awareness-raising activities. The Government representative
referred to practical action undertaken as a consequence of efforts
to promote the Convention. This included the establishment since
1998 of specialized anti-discrimination centres in various state la-
bour delegations, which represent the federal Ministry of Labour in
each of the 27 States in the Federation. To date, such centres had
been set up in 15 of the 27 state delegations, and each State was
soon to have a centre of its own. Each of the centres was competent
to receive complaints alleging discrimination on grounds of race,
sex, physical deficiencies, sexual preference and health. When a
complaint came in, officials of the centre conducted an investiga-
tion into the facts, studied the case and tried to work out a solution;
when no solution was possible the case was sent on to the Attorney-
General for appropriate judicial action. From January to March
2000 the centres received 80 complaints alleging discrimination,
most of which ended in a settlement. The complaints concerned dis-
crimination on grounds of gender (42 per cent), service-incurred
injury or illness (29 per cent), health (12 per cent), age (5 per cent),
disability (4 per cent), race or colour (1 per cent), and other factors
(3 per cent). It was important to note that black women as a group
were more exposed to discrimination than any other. There had
also been 522 complaints against discrimination in the workplace
affecting HIV-infected workers and AIDS victims, of which 513 had
been resolved.

The Government representative also referred to the establish-
ment of a database registering cases of discrimination and potential
solutions, but the project had encountered certain obstacles, for
which efforts were under way to overcome. He provided further
information on practical steps and information activities undertak-
en, among them the training of 6,000 teacher-trainers on matters of
discrimination and the holding of various seminars including sever-
al attended by ILO experts. The Government of Brazil had every
intention of continuing to provide information for the supervisory
bodies and of benefiting from ILO technical cooperation until such
time as the last remaining vestige of discrimination in Brazil could
be eliminated.

The Worker members stated that the problem of discrimination
in Brazil had been the subject of discussion in this Committee in
1993, 1994 and 1995. Various points had been debated: discrimina-
tion in employment, including wage discrimination relating to sex
or race; the obligation for women to produce a certificate of sterili-
zation prior to employment; and the lack of national policy con-
cerning equality of treatment. In its most recent observation, the
Committee of Experts noted with interest the numerous initiatives
undertaken by the Government, both in terms of legislation and
practice. Moreover, the Government representative had provided
additional information on this subject. The Committee of Experts,
however, noted in its most recent observation that the information
provided in the report concerning the situation of employment was
not sufficiently detailed and did not enable it to evaluate the
progress made in the implementation of the Convention. Concern-
ing discrimination on the basis of race, colour or ethnic origin, the
Committee of Experts had noted reports concerning the persist-
ence of profound structural inequalities endured by the indigenous
population, the black and mixed-race communities despite the
measures taken by the Government. Concerning discrimination
based on sex, the reports of the United Nations Human Rights
Commission indicated that women continued to face de jure and de
facto discrimination, particularly concerning access to the labour
market. The Committee noted with interest Law No. 97/99 which
prohibited the publication of discriminatory employment advertise-
ments as well as the termination or refusal to hire, promote or train
people based on sex, age, race or family status. Information on the
implementation of this law, including the measures envisaged to set
up policies on equality of opportunity and treatment are necessary.
Likewise, further information was requested concerning the effec-
tive implementation of laws prohibiting employers requiring certif-
icates of sterilization or any other legislation adopted to fight

against discrimination. Evaluation of the implementation of Con-
ventions concerning discrimination was only possible if the infor-
mation provided by the Government was reliable and sufficiently
detailed.

The Worker members remain very concerned by the persistence
of discrimination of which indigenous people, blacks and persons of
mixed race are victims; the position of women in the labour market;
discrimination in the fields of education, guidance and professional
training; and access to the labour market of underprivileged young
people, as well as children known as “street children”. In conclu-
sion, the Government must continue to deploy all efforts to assure
the effective implementation of the Convention, in terms of legisla-
tion and practice, and to formalize anti-discriminatory policies. In
addition, the Government must provide reports which are suffi-
ciently detailed and of such quality as to enable efficient examina-
tion of the implementation of the Convention.

The Employer members indicated that the Committee discussed
this case three years in succession in the 1990s — 1993, 1994 and
1995. This case had previously had three serious elements: employ-
ment discrimination based on race and sex including salary discrim-
ination; the absence of any national policy on equal opportunity;
and the fact that the employer was allowed to require female appli-
cants to obtain sterilization certificates. In 1995, there was a break-
through in that the Government agreed to the establishment of a
Technical Advisory Committee and enacted Act No. 9029 that pro-
hibited employers from requiring a medical sterilization certificate
from women. In 1996, the Government launched a national pro-
gramme for human rights that broadly provided for equality for
women, blacks, the disabled and indigenous people. In 1997, the
Committee of Experts noted the progress being made in both law
and practice. In 1999, Brazil adopted Law No. 97/99 which amend-
ed the Consolidated Labour Act to include prohibitions of discrim-
ination on the basis of sex, age, colour and family status. This year
the Committee of Experts had noted other positive actions taken by
the Government including public awareness programmes. But on
an overall basis, the Employer members considered that this Com-
mittee did not have a clear picture of the effects of all of these meas-
ures. Moreover, the Committee of Experts had noted that certain
indigenous communities continue to suffer from deep structural in-
equalities. The Employer members were also surprised by the fact
that only 80 complaints had been filed within a three-month period,
alleging discriminatory practices. In light of the size of the labour
force, the Employer members considered this number of cases to be
extremely low. This Committee therefore needed information that
non-discriminatory practices were taking hold. Hence the Govern-
ment needed to provide promptly a report as requested by the
Committee of Experts, assessing whether there had been concrete
progress and the statistical data requested by the Committee of
Experts under point 9 of its report.

The Worker member of Brazil indicated that the application of
Convention No. 111 had been the subject of comments since 1991
by the Committee of Experts and was taken up by the Conference
Committee in 1993, 1994 and 1995. The case had come up for dis-
cussion once again because of continuing breaches of the Conven-
tion. Discrimination in employment and occupation in Brazil left no
room for doubt. In 1993 the Government representative himself
acknowledged the existence of discriminatory practices going all
the way back to the colonial period. Since then, a number of laws
designed to combat discrimination had been enacted. Despite
progress in legislation, however, discriminatory practices against
women, blacks, Indians and sexual minorities had, sadly, remained
commonplace. Women, for example, were still being asked to sub-
mit evidence of sterilization before recruitment and were even sub-
jected to medical examinations.

Statistical data from official bodies were worth mentioning. In
six of Brazil’s richest metropolitan areas women’s average earnings
amounted to only 67 per cent of men’s. The wages of blacks were 60
per cent of what non-black men and women received. Women were
more exposed to social exclusion than men; 32.2 per cent of eco-
nomically active workers without the benefit of a contract of em-
ployment were women whereas the proportion of working men
without contracts was 24.9 per cent. Similarly the unemployment
rate in major urban centres was 8 per cent for women as opposed to
6.9 per cent for men. The black population was much harder hit by
unemployment: although it represented 41.7 per cent of the eco-
nomically active population according to one study carried out in
five urban areas, 50 per cent of unemployed workers were black.
The perverse affects of discrimination based on sex and race were
evident in respect of unskilled employment: 19 per cent of working
women (some 5 million women) laboured in domestic employment
for a paltry wage. In domestic employment there was evidence of
double discrimination since 56 per cent of domestic women workers
were black. They had scant education, one to three years’ school-
ing, and their monthly pay came to a mere US$41. Blacks in the
active population held positions requiring the lowest skills levels

23/105


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

and seldom rose to management positions in either the private or
public sectors.

The Committee of Experts regularly requested the Government
to supply information on the practical effects of newly adopted leg-
islation in keeping with the obligation laid down in Article 3(f) of
the Convention on the reporting of “results secured”. The reason
why the results secured by official policies and legislative measures
were so meagre was that despite the magnitude of the problem the
Government’s policy measures were purely “cosmetic”. The hold-
ing of national seminars attended by 100 participants or the distri-
bution of explanatory leaflets seemed derisory for a population of
some 160 million. However necessary, such action could only be in-
adequate. The effective application of the Convention called for
active policies targeting the integration of blacks, women, Indians
and sexual minorities by such means, for example, as establishing
quotas in the public service or subordinating public aid for private
enterprises to compliance with anti-discrimination rules. Whereas
state-controlled enterprises should be setting an example, the first
case of discrimination on which the Supreme Labour Court had
ruled concerned a publicly owned enterprise. Employers should
also be encouraged by the Government to follow an active non-dis-
crimination policy, notably through the system of vocational train-
ing which they ran. The system should finance vocational training
designed to integrate those who had been excluded on grounds of
race or sex.

As to the question raised by the Committee of Experts concern-
ing the paucity of complaints alleging discrimination despite an im-
pressive anti-discriminatory legislative arsenal, the Worker mem-
ber pointed out that Brazil’s labour legislation was one of the most
flexible in the world and allowed employers to dismiss workers
without giving any reasons. Dismissed workers were left to ask the
courts for awards of moral and material damages, which proved dif-
ficult to substantiate.

In conclusion, Brazil, it was plain, had still failed to apply Con-
vention No. 111, particularly Article 3(f). The Conference Com-
mittee should therefore request the Government to communicate
detailed and specific information on the practical results of the ac-
tion it had undertaken.

The Employer member of Brazil underlined the positive steps
taken by the Government to ensure and promote the application of
the principles embodied in the Convention. She said that the Gov-
ernment had done an excellent job of disseminating information
and raising the public’s level of awareness with a view to eliminating
discriminatory practices in employment and occupation. She
dwelled on the Government’s achievements in terms of legislation
enacted and the organization of various nationwide events. Her
Confederation, she observed, had taken part in numerous events
organized by the Government to promote and effectively apply the
principles in the Convention.

The Worker member of the United States noted that Brazil and
the United States were remarkably similar in that both nations were
highly diverse and multicultural, both nations had emerged from
systems of colonialism and slavery, and that both had been shaped
by peoples of African, indigenous, Asian and European origins.
Despite these similar origins, there were also significant differenc-
es. For example, Brazil in its post-slavery period had never main-
tained a regime of state-sponsored and state-enforced segregation
and discrimination which had existed in some parts of the United
States. Nevertheless, he recalled that both the report of the Com-
mittee of Experts and the admission by the Brazilian President
Fernando Henrique Cardoso in 1994 that the notion of Brazilian
racial democracy was really a myth, suggested that discrimination
in employment remained a major problem in Brazil and called into
question Brazil’s effective compliance with Convention No. 111.

He noted that the report of the Committee of Experts referred
to certain measures which the Brazilian Government had taken to
address the discrimination crisis. However, the experts explicitly
acknowledged the failure of the Brazilian Government to provide
them with concrete information showing what substantial impact
these measures had actually produced on employment discrimina-
tion, thus falling short of the requirements of Article 3(f) of the
Convention.

Despite this lack of information, a more complete analysis of
Brazilian employment discrimination could be constructed from
other sources. He recalled a 1999 study prepared by Brazil’s Inter-
Union Department of Social Economic Studies (DIEESE) and the
Inter-American Trade Union Institute on Racial Equality (IN-
SPIR) which was funded by the AFL-CIO and three Brazilian trade
union centres. The study concluded that black workers, on average,
earned only 60 per cent of the income of their non-black counter-
parts, that black workers were disproportionately over-represented
in the unskilled job sector, and that black workers were dispropor-
tionately under-represented in managerial positions and over-rep-
resented in the unprotected informal sector. The DIEESE/INSPIR
study concluded that “no other factor, other than direct use of dis-

23/106

criminatory criteria based on skin colour, can explain the systemat-
ically unfavourable employment situation for black workers ...”. He
also recalled the study prepared by the Brazilian Institute of Geog-
raphy and Statistics which concluded that Brazilian women, on av-
erage, earned only 67 per cent of the income earned by their male
counterparts.

Given the above, he suggested that the Government promote a
policy of encouraging anti-discrimination clauses in collective
agreements by urging employers, trade unions, and the labour court
system to incorporate such measures in the collective bargaining
process and in the registration of collective agreements. Further-
more, the Brazilian Congress and courts, pursuant to the 1988 Con-
stitution, should develop the necessary mechanisms in law and eq-
uity, including affirmative action, to begin to remedy systematic
discrimination. Finally, the Brazilian Government should endeav-
our to harmonize its legislation to avoid contradictions. For exam-
ple, he pointed out, Brazil’s 1998 law which established the fixed-
term and temporary contract system undermined job stability for
women who exercised their maternity leave rights, thus aggravating
the disparate treatment between women and men in the labour
market. Recalling Brazilian subterfuges which had been used to
hide slavery from the English in the nineteenth century, he urged
the Brazilian Government to root out discrimination, as opposed to
merely covering and camouflaging it.

Another Employer member of Brazil spoke of various govern-
ment-organized seminars, meetings and forums on the topic in
which he had taken part. These events were characteristically tri-
partite and seldom gave rise to criticism. As to the system of ongo-
ing training, which the employers managed, it was to be noted that
workers’ representatives also sat on the governing bodies of the
various training institutions. The Government’s productive and
continuing efforts to combat discrimination were worth emphasiz-
ing.
The Worker member of Singapore expressed her grave concern
that discrimination continued against women and persons of differ-
ent races, colours and ethnic origin in Brazil. She noted that there
appeared to be legislation prohibiting discrimination and that a hu-
man rights programme had been established to promote equality.
She also noted the establishment of centres for the prevention of
discrimination at the state level, which involved representatives of
the Government, trade unions, and minority and women’s groups.
However, she stated that there was insufficient information on
these activities and the number of complaints and successful prose-
cutions that had been registered to know whether such legislation
and programmes were effective. She further noted that the cause of
discrimination against women and ethnic minorities was usually
much deeper and embedded in the values and norms of a society.
She therefore urged the Government to send a strong signal to the
public through clear policies and effective programmes aimed at
eliminating discrimination. She recalled that Convention No. 111
was one of the core Conventions and that its objective was to pro-
tect the interests of vulnerable groups who, without strong inter-
vention from the governments, would seriously suffer from discrim-
ination in employment and training.

In conclusion, she urged the Government to provide further in-
formation on the treatment of complaints and cases regarding dis-
crimination, on the number of successful prosecutions under cur-
rent legislation, and what measures had been taken to inform
workers, employers, women, and ethnic and racial minorities of
government efforts to combat discrimination. She recalled that it
had taken the Government seven years to introduce the measures
discussed today, and she hoped that it would not take another seven
years to be informed of further progress.

The Government representative underlined, in response to sev-
eral comments of the Employer members in relation to the low
number of complaints regarding discrimination, that the statistics
she had provided referred exclusively to complaints presented to
the 15 centres specialized in combating discrimination in the three-
month period between January and March 2000. She indicated that
she had at her disposition a detailed report with statistics but that
she wished to add further information. She stated that the next re-
port would include this information and that it would add statistics
which would respond to the questions which had been raised during
the discussion. She recognized that there was still much to be done
and that the Government was still learning to make progress in the
field of human rights.

The Worker members stated that the information before the
Committee confirmed the persistence of significant levels of dis-
crimination in practice. The absence of instruments of evaluation to
permit the drafting of detailed reports of good quality was a big
handicap when it came to measuring the impact and concrete ef-
fects of the Government’s various programmes and policies. If, as
the Government indicated, such data existed then it should take the
necessary steps to produce it in its next report for the Committee of
Experts to evaluate progress made in applying the Convention.


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

The Committee thanked the Government for the detailed oral
information it provided, and noted with interest the discussion
which followed. It recalled the serious violations of the Convention
that had previously been noted by the Committee of Experts and
this Committee, and the progress in tackling these problems, with
the assistance of the Office, that had been noted by the Committee
of Experts. It also noted with interest the numerous programmes
and activities that had been undertaken by the Government to pro-
mote human rights in the country, in particular equality on the
grounds set out in the Convention, while noting that a number of
problems still exist in practice. The Committee requested the Gov-
ernment to provide detailed information on the concrete and tangi-
ble results achieved through this action, including reports, studies
and statistical data and other indicators, particularly with regard to
any changes in the economic participation rates of women as well as
different racial or ethnic minority groups and indigenous peoples. It
encouraged the Government to assess the progress made, and to
provide detailed information in its next report to the Committee of
Experts in this regard.

Islamic Republic of Iran (ratification: 1964). A Government rep-
resentative reaffirmed the commitment of her Government to the
application of the Convention, the provisions of which were in con-
formity with the principles and objectives of her Government. The
Government recognized its obligation to promote and realize the
principle of non-discrimination and had endeavoured to provide
complete and substantive reports to the Committee of Experts,
containing all the available information requested.

She recalled that last year during the Committee her Govern-
ment had stated that it would invite a mission from the ILO to come
to the Islamic Republic of Iran to discuss with various parties any
issue that it wished regarding the application of the Convention.
Her Government had also responded positively to the views ex-
pressed by the Worker members and other members of the Com-
mittee and had agreed and accepted the terms of reference of the
mission as indicated by the ILO in their entirety. The Government
had cooperated fully and provided all the necessary assistance and
facilities requested for the mission. In an extensive work pro-
gramme, the mission had discussed various issues regarding the ap-
plication of the Convention and matters raised in the supervisory
bodies in their meetings with various government officials, the judi-
ciary, several NGOs and minority groups. As a result of the knowl-
edge and experience of the mission members, it had been possible
to hold very useful in-depth dialogue on all the issues raised, as indi-
cated in the report of the Committee of Experts. She added that a
national tripartite seminar would be held in her country in the next
few months with ILO cooperation on the further implementation of
the ILO’s fundamental standards.

With respect to the comments of the Committee of Experts, she
noted the reference to the existing national dialogue in the Islamic
Republic of Iran on the issues covered by the Convention and the
commitment in the governmental structure towards removing all
possible obstacles to the application of universally recognized hu-
man rights standards. It had also referred to the national institu-
tions set up to examine and promote human rights. She emphasized
in this respect that the national environment in which the Conven-
tion was applied was of great importance. The existence of a lively
civil society and a wide range of governmental and non-governmen-
tal institutions to ensure respect for the rights of citizens, including
non-discrimination, was the best mechanism for the materialization
of these rights. Any comments on the application of the Convention
therefore needed to take into account the degree of social and civil
development of the national environment, as had been done by the
Committee of Experts when it noted the expanded activities in her
country in the area of human rights.

With regard to discrimination on the basis of sex, the Govern-
ment had received support from Parliament in adapting the present
Five-Year Development Plan, under which legislation was intro-
duced to promote equal opportunities and encourage the higher
participation of women in employment and education, as noted by
the Committee of Experts. In this respect, the credit should be giv-
en to Iranian women who had made the effort to achieve the break-
through in their levels of participation in social activities, and par-
ticularly in educational and occupational areas. The pertinent
statistics and facts, which had also been reported by the ILO mis-
sion, were significant in any comparison with other developing
countries. She reported in this regard that social and awareness-
raising activities included the establishment of a large number of
state and non-governmental committees and institutes throughout
the country to facilitate and encourage the higher participation by
women in all socio-economic fields in accordance with the impor-
tance given by government policy to the empowerment of women.
She added that, in the sixth Iranian parliamentary election held at
the end of 1999, more than ten women had been elected, one of
whom had subsequently been elected to the Bureau of the Parlia-

ment. She recalled that current developments in education in her
country had received international acknowledgement, including by
UNESCO. The numbers of students at universities had risen from
170,000 some 20 years ago, of whom 24 per cent had been women,
to 1,400,000 at the present time, of whom 50 per cent were women.
It was significant that over the past two years, female entrants to
universities had accounted for 52 and 57 per cent of all students,
respectively. A new type of women’s empowerment project ad-
dressing specific target groups in deprived areas had also been initi-
ated and included research, training workshops, the strengthening
of local NGOs and other activities.

Turning to the subject of women in the judiciary, she stated that
various high-ranking positions were occupied by competent wom-
en, as noted by the ILO mission. No distinctions or privileges were
set out for women or men in the law respecting the recruitment of
judges. Male and female applicants competed in the same examina-
tion, which was the only basis for admission as a candidate. All per-
sons admitted had to complete one year of professional training to
prepare for the final professional examination for qualification as a
judge. At none of these stages was there any distinction between
the sexes. Moreover, for a number of years, women had obtained
the five highest marks in the examination. There were currently
146 women judges and 380 women attorneys-at-law. The Commit-
tee of Experts had noted the influential judicial capacity of women
in her country. Moreover, the role of women in the judiciary was not
confined to advisory positions. Women were now appointed as
judges and made judicial decisions. With regard to the obligatory
dress code for civil servants, she stated that the regulations applied
equally to men and women working in the civil service. She an-
nounced the submission of a copy of the relevant document, as re-
quested by the Committee of Experts, and stated that it did not in-
clude any element of discrimination between the sexes and had in
practice served as a basis for a higher participation by women.

On the subject of section 1117 of the Civil Code, which had been
adopted some 70 years ago, the Committee of Experts had called
for either the husband’s right to object to his wife’s employment to
be removed or for the equivalent right of objection to be granted to
the wife. In this context, she stated that more recent legislation,
namely the Protection of the Family Act, granted the wife the same
right in section 18.

She informed the Committee of a major development, namely
the adoption of the present Five-Year Development Plan, which in-
corporated a gender dimension with regard to employment. She
emphasized that her Government was determined to develop and
adopt the necessary measures to further enhance the employment
of women and to take any additional administrative decisions that
might be necessary.

In relation to discrimination on the basis of religion, she recalled
that her country had been famous for religious tolerance and that
religious minorities had found that it was a home in which they
could live and enjoy the same citizenship rights, as those acquainted
with the situation of Christians, Jews and Zoroastrians in her coun-
try could confirm. The ILO mission had confirmed that the mem-
bers of the recognized religious minorities continued to have high
levels of education and employment. Furthermore, in addition to
access to all the legal and administrative channels available to all
citizens, the members of minority groups also had other formal and
informal channels through which they could raise any issue of inter-
est to them. The protection of their interests was also ensured
through their representation in the national decision-making proc-
ess. Indeed, the number of representatives in Parliament from the
religious minorities was proportionately higher than that of Mus-
lims. These mechanisms and the tradition of coexistence, which had
continued for many centuries, ensured the principle of non-discrim-
ination.

With regard to the employment situation of persons not belong-
ing to any recognized religious minority, she emphasized that the
right to employment covered all the citizens in the country. The ar-
ticles of the Constitution which set out the rights and liberties of the
citizens used only general terms, such as “any individual” or “all
Iranians”. There were no grounds for discrimination in such rights,
including in the right to employment. Christians, Jews and Zoroas-
trians were recognized in the Constitution as religious minorities
with a view to ensuring their freedom in their religious rights and
ceremonies and so that they could act according to their own can-
non in matters of personal affairs, such as marriage and divorce, as
well as with a view to the recognition of their religious holidays and
their own religious sites and organizations. She therefore explained
that recognition as a religious minority was related to religious is-
sues, while non-discrimination was a general principle which ap-
plied to all citizens. She added that there were no restrictions for
religious minorities in access to universities and higher education.

She indicated that the Government had taken several measures,
and would continue to do so, to ensure that the rights of individuals
as citizens of the country were well protected. The national Consti-

23/107



tution explicitly guaranteed equal rights for the entire population of
the country and specific mechanisms existed to ensure that any new
legislation, including provisions on non-discrimination, were fully
in line with the Constitution. One such mechanism was the Board of
Follow-up and Supervision of the Implementation of the Constitu-
tion, established a few years previously, which was responsible for
monitoring the full implementation of the Constitution and report-
ing any shortcomings to the President. Complaints against govern-
ment officials and authorities could also be filed with the relevant
courts, Parliament, the Administrative Justice Tribunal and the
State General Inspection Organization. In addition to these judicial
and administrative safeguards, non-governmental mechanisms
were in full operation, including several NGOs active in various as-
pects of human rights.

She emphasized that new legislation of major importance and
direct relevance to the Convention, namely the legislation on the
rights of citizenship, had been approved by the Iranian Expediency
Council in 1999. This legislation was based on the provisions of the
Constitution and re-emphasized the equal rights for all the citizens
of the country without any discrimination on the basis of religion,
sex, race, ethnic origin and other grounds. It was applicable to all
Iranians irrespective of their religion. She added that the Board of
Follow-up and Supervision of the Implementation of the Constitu-
tion had held its second annual national seminar on citizens’ rights
and the Constitution which had been designed to raise public
awareness and had focused on the rights of minorities. She also not-
ed that her country would be the host of the Asian Preparatory
Meeting for the World Conference Against Racism, Racial Dis-
crimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance.

Finally, on the occasion of the ILO mission to her country, a
commitment had been made to undertake a number of joint activi-
ties with the ILO to further promote the application of the Conven-
tion and of fundamental principles. She reiterated the invitation to
the ILO to hold a national tripartite seminar in the autumn of 2000
which would cover in detail the provisions and requirements of the
ILO’s fundamental Conventions. She welcomed ILO cooperation
and expressed readiness to collaborate with the Office in various
activities to promote the application of fundamental Conventions,
including Convention No. 111, in her country. The Islamic Republic
of Iran was therefore willing to continue its constructive dialogue
and cooperation with the ILO on all subjects, including the imple-
mentation of the Convention.

The Employer members thanked the Government representa-
tive for the information provided and recalled that the application
of the Convention raised very serious issues which had been exam-
ined by the Committee over a period of many years. At the Confer-
ence in 1999, the Government representative had agreed to receive
an ILO technical advisory mission, the functions of which had been
set out in the Committee’s conclusions. The Employer members
believed that the statement by the Government representative had
demonstrated a certain superficial appeal, in that the right things
had been said. Nevertheless, they expressed a certain concern at the
Government representative’s affirmation that the Convention com-
plied with the legislation and principles in the Islamic Republic of
Iran. They pointed out that the process should be reversed, and it
was for national law and practice to be brought into accordance
with the Convention. The Government representative had also ex-
pressed a commitment to the principles set out in the Convention.
However, this differed from complying with its legal obligations.
While the national policy objectives might be in the right direction,
the necessary legal protection might still not exist. The Employer
members expressed the belief that neither the report of the Com-
mittee of Experts nor the statement by the Government represent-
ative contained precise information on the manner in which the
fundamental problems raised were being addressed. While they
welcomed measures such as the tripartite seminar and grass-roots
educational programmes, they emphasized that the problems were
of a systemic nature. Their resolution would require a sense of ur-
gency, which had not been evident in the statement by the Govern-
ment representative. In practice, despite the existence of a human
rights commission, in view of the country’s long history of human
rights violations, it was not surprising that many citizens might be
reluctant to file complaints.

While the Employer members welcomed the improvements
with regard to discrimination in employment on the basis of sex,
they pointed out that the number of women employed was still rel-
atively low, being under 10 per cent. Moreover, there remained a
clear distinction between participation rates of women in high-
skilled and low-skilled jobs. The situation was the same in the field
of education, where much more needed to be done to facilitate the
access of women to higher education. Despite the affirmation by
the Government representative that the selection of candidates for
the judiciary did not involve any discrimination on the basis of sex,
the Employer members referred to the comments of the Commit-
tee which still raised concern and called upon the Government to

23/108

provide proof of the improvements which they claimed had been
made. Such proof could consist, for example, of a statistical analysis
of the number of judicial decisions taken by women in the judiciary
in order to demonstrate that they did not merely fill an advisory
role. The Employer members also observed that the issue of the
obligatory dress code had not been mentioned by the Government
representative. They called for further information to be provided
on the exact situation in this respect. With reference to section 1117
of the Civil Code, under which a husband could bring a court action
to object to his wife taking up a profession or job contrary to the
interests of the family, they urged the Government to take action to
remedy this discriminatory situation in both law and practice. Final-
ly, with reference to the situation of the members of the Baha’i,
which had not been mentioned by the Government representative,
they expressed the conviction that discrimination continued to be
exercised in practice.

While noting with interest the information provided by the Gov-
ernment representative, the Employer members feared that little
progress had been made in practice over the past ten years with
regard to the application of the Convention. They therefore urged
the Government to continue taking the positive measures which
had been mentioned, particularly in cooperation with the ILO.
They also called on the Government to understand the need for a
sense of urgency in addressing the problems of non-compliance
with the Convention.

The Worker members, after thanking the Government repre-
sentative for the information provided, recalled that the ILO mis-
sion to the Islamic Republic of Iran had constituted a welcome
breakthrough in the manner in which this difficult and very serious
case had been addressed. After a hostile and confrontational begin-
ning in the early years, it had gradually been possible to progress to
a climate of dialogue with the Government. In this respect, they
recalled that some years ago the Government had claimed that it
was completely different and could not be judged by ILO standards
as they were supervised by international bodies. The Government
had stated at that time that international standards would only be
observed if they were compatible with Islamic precepts.

While welcoming the mission, the Worker members feared that
the tone of the comments by the Committee of Experts was too
positive, without wanting to degrade in any way the importance of
the mission. They recalled that a mission was merely a tool and that
the only thing which counted was the result. The result they wished
to see was that Iranian law and practice would be brought into line
with the Convention. They warned that there was still a long way to
go before that point could be reached. While the mission had been
expected to clarify the precise situation, it had not necessarily short-
ened the distance to the desired destination.

On the subject of the mission, the Worker members recalled the
efforts which had been made in the Committee in 1999 to ensure
that there could be no misunderstanding about the nature of the
mission or its mandate. The Worker members had emphasized that
its objectives should be clear and that all the problems which had
arisen in the application of the Convention should be discussed. In
view of the past controversy over the facts of the case, it had
seemed evident that the mission would endeavour to contribute to
greater clarity on the factual situation as to the application of the
Convention. While this had not been stated as among its objectives,
the mission appeared indeed to have tried to clarify the situation in
this respect. However, what the Committee’s report did not contain
was a clear and complete list of the mission’s contacts. The question
therefore arose as to which government officials and representa-
tives of employers and workers, and which other parts of Iranian
society had been included and whether they were independent of
the Government. They also raised the question of whether the na-
tional institutions set up to examine and promote human rights, in-
cluding discrimination in employment, were independent of the
Government. They asked for more information on the mission’s
contacts with representatives of the recognized religious minorities
and whether these had included representatives of the Jewish com-
munity as, at the time of the mission, there were serious and politi-
cally sensitive problems regarding the latter. They also wondered
whether the people engaged in such contacts could be considered to
truly represent the views of their minority or of the Government.
He questioned whether the mission had met representatives of the
Baha’i, and other non-recognized religious minorities. All of these
were important questions, the answers to which were indispensable
in interpreting the report of the mission. An indication was also re-
quired of whether the mission had been able to meet all the persons
it wanted to see and whether it had the impression that the people it
had met feared reprisals by the Government.

With regard to the findings of the mission, the Worker members
drew attention to the many valuable elements in the report of the
Committee of Experts. One of these, which was apparently in line
with the views of the Government, had been the effort made to sit-
uate the shortcomings in the application of the Convention within a


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

broader human rights context. Interesting information had also
been included on the issues discussed earlier in the Committee.
However, one issue which the Committee of Experts had raised in
the past, and which the Worker members had especially requested
the mission to cover last year, was that concerning the Islamic
Works Councils. No information had been included in the report on
this matter and the reasons for its omission were unclear. The mes-
sage in the observation by the Committee of Experts was that there
were many positive elements concerning the promotion of human
rights, including with regard to discrimination on the basis of sex
and religion, and tripartite consultation. The Committee of Experts
had requested the Government to continue to supply information
on the cases pending before the Islamic Human Rights Commission
and on the Commission’s activities. It had also requested the Gov-
ernment to continue supplying information in its reports on the sit-
uation with regard to discrimination on the basis of sex and on the
participation of women in the labour market and in certain profes-
sions. The Committee of Experts had expressed the hope that cer-
tain restrictions on equality of opportunity and treatment of men
and women workers would be removed, that section 1117 of the
Civil Code would be reviewed and that measures would be taken to
promote non-discrimination and the non-recognized minorities.

While all the above was of importance, the Worker members
believed that what was completely missing in the report was a refer-
ence to what a serious case this had been, to the continuing serious
nature of the case, and to the precise situation at the present time in
the country with regard to the application of the Convention. Al-
though positive developments had been recognized, the observa-
tions contained hardly any criticism of current problems. In this re-
spect, there was a marked contrast between the observation by the
Committee of Experts and the report of the Special Rapporteur of
the United Nations Human Rights Commission, and such discrep-
ancies had either to be explained or avoided by closer cooperation.
It was good that the mission had gone, but it had raised as many
questions as it had provided answers.

In conclusion, the Worker members welcomed the Govern-
ment’s desire for dialogue, but emphasized that it was necessary to
concentrate on the application of the Convention in both law and
practice. It was to be hoped that the mission could be repeated
when deemed necessary, some time in the future, and that other
forms of cooperation would be developed between the ILO and the
Government. They urged the Committee of Experts in particular to
examine in its next report whether there had been any changes in
the law to bring it into compliance with the Convention, as this as-
pect of the case appeared to have been neglected by the Committee
of Experts.

The Worker member of the Islamic Republic of Iran, mention-
ing the reference in the Committee of Experts’ comments to the
first tripartite consultation on social and labour matters, welcomed
the first National Labour Conference held last year. He urged the
Government to fully implement the recommendations of the Con-
ference, especially those regarding contract labour, small enterpris-
es, and the ratification of Conventions Nos. 87 and 98.

He further stated that during discussions with the ILO technical
advisory mission, workers had raised the issue of recent legislation
which exempted small enterprises with five or fewer employees
from the ambit of the labour law. Unfortunately, this matter had not
been examined in the report of the Committee of Experts. He stat-
ed that, in his opinion, the law was in open violation of the Conven-
tion because it discriminated against workers employed in small
enterprises. He noted that parliaments usually enacted laws in fa-
vour of workers and that it was unprecedented in the history of his
country for a law to be adopted to provide for the non-application
of a law to one part of the working population. This new law was
against the essence of the Islamic Constitution and principles of so-
cial justice and would usher in an era of exploitation. He noted that
this law would endanger the rights of approximately 3 million work-
ers, and he therefore urged the Committee to take note of the situ-
ation and take appropriate measures. Similarly, he requested the
Committee of Experts to evaluate this situation and reflect it in
their comments.

Finally, he announced that the workers of the Islamic Republic
of Iran were determined, while maintaining peace, to follow up on
their demands through proper legal channels, both at the national
and international levels. He demanded that the Government repeal
the above law as a matter of urgency.

The Worker member of Italy took note of the comments of the
Committee of Experts on the basis of the mission invited by the
Iranian Government last year. It was clear from those observations
that no effective legal and political steps had been taken by the
Government to overcome the serious and continuous breach of the
content of the Convention. Serious violations of basic human rights
and political freedoms had continued to be registered by several
human rights organizations. It was quite clear that in this general
climate of repression, very few cases on discrimination had been

reported to the Islamic Human Rights Commission or to the Super-
visory Commission on the Implementation of the Constitution,
since both institutions were composed of former high-level govern-
ment members. In addition, she considered that the judicial system
was not independent and was subject to government and religious
influence. She recalled that women were not allowed to become
magistrates empowered to deliver verdicts, which constituted a
clear violation of the Convention. In this regard she requested the
Government to abrogate the Conditions for Selection of Magis-
trates Act of 1982. She also pointed out that women could not freely
enter certain sectors of the world of work.

With regard to education, she emphasized that higher education
remained an opportunity for only a very small and privileged group
of women and pointed out that 30 per cent of adult women were
still completely illiterate. She expressed her indignation concerning
the fact that discrimination was enshrined in the law through sec-
tion 1117 of the Civil Code, which gave the husband the right to
bring his wife to court for taking a job that he or the family consid-
ered contrary to the interests of the family. She therefore called on
the Government to abolish section 1117 of the Civil Code. She also
strongly criticized the 1975 Protection of the Family Act, which was
supposed to extend some rights to women, as well as a new law
which had been adopted last April and which provided for sex seg-
regation in health care at all levels.

With regard to violations of the compulsory dress code, while
this did not lead immediately to a dismissal, other humiliating disci-
plinary measures were implemented which could be compared to
dismissals. As for the new legislation on small enterprises which
denied social protection and other rights at work, she considered
this to be a clear violation of the Convention. Finally, unless new
legislation and effective programmes were implemented to redress
the situation and sanctions imposed on those violating the provi-
sions of the Convention, no real progress would be achieved. As
many women in the country were trying to achieve emancipation,
these measures were needed to help them succeed in their efforts.

The Worker member of Turkey referred to section 6 of the La-
bour Code of the Islamic Republic of Iran which provided for
equality without distinction based on ethnic origin, race or lan-
guage. He noted that the absence of any direct reference to sex in
respect of non-discrimination created the impression that this legis-
lation did not provide for protection against discrimination for Ira-
nian women. He stated that discrimination against women with re-
spect to marriage, inheritance, guardianship and divorce, as
stipulated in the Civil Code, had its parallel in employment and oc-
cupation as well. He further noted that section 6 of the Labour
Code guaranteed the freedom to choose an occupation, provided
that such an occupation was not inconsistent with Islamic principles.
He asked for more information regarding the nature of such “Is-
lamic principles”.

He added that, under certain circumstances, discrimination on
the basis of sex might take on a disguised form, such as in the assign-
ment of tasks and jobs according to the alleged strength of a worker.
In the context of a general attitude which considered women as an
inferior sex with respect to mental and physical capabilities, such
disguised discrimination might be especially important. In this re-
gard, he asked the Government to provide information as to wheth-
er Iranian legislation or government policy considered males and
females equal with respect to their mental capabilities. He also
asked the Government to provide information regarding section 75
of the Labour Code, which provided that women should not be
employed to perform dangerous, arduous or harmful work. He
asked for further clarification with regard to the definition of these
types of prohibited work and as to whether such prohibitions were
based on internationally accepted standards. With regard to the
observation that women judges had only advisory powers, he asked
whether the regulation concerning the conditions for the selection
of judges, which stipulated that only male Muslims could become
judges, had been amended to bring it into conformity with the Con-
vention.

He then turned to the question of consultations with representa-
tives of workers’ organizations during the ILO’s technical advisory
mission. He pointed out that the Labour Code provided for two
types of workers’ organizations: guild societies, and Islamic socie-
ties and associations established “in order to propagate and dissem-
inate Islamic culture, to defend the achievements of the Islamic
Revolution and to further the implementation of article 26 of the
Constitution of the Islamic Republic of Iran”. He indicated that cur-
rent legislation allowed for the appointment of an employer’s repre-
sentative in such organizations. Consequently, he asked whether
any such organization could be considered as an independent body.

Finally, he referred to the Rules of Procedure and Propagation
and Extension of the Culture of Prayer of 29 April 1997, which pro-
vided that workers should also be evaluated by virtue of their daily
prayers. He asked whether Muslims who did not fulfil their reli-
gious obligations could be considered as objects of discrimination.

23/109


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C87
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C98

In conclusion, he called for a direct contacts mission to the Islamic
Republic of Iran and the inclusion of this case in a special
paragraph.

The Worker member of Singapore noted that the Government
had taken a number of measures to attempt to provide more oppor-
tunities for women and to assure them greater equality. She urged
the Government to put these plans into practice. She further called
upon the Committee of Experts and the ILO to continue to monitor
the situation closely. With regard to discrimination, she observed
that there was no religious basis to justify the ill-treatment and mar-
ginalization of women in any society. She stated that equal opportu-
nity for women in education was an investment in the present and
future of a country. It was an investment in the present because
women made up at least 50 per cent of any society, and a society
which chose to deprive itself of women’s resources and intellect
would severely restrict its own growth. It was an investment in the
future because women remained the key caregivers in the family,
and poorly educated women would have a harmful effect on future
generations. She further stressed that the initiatives by the Govern-
ment mentioned in the report of the Committee of Experts should
not be regarded as concessions but rather as basic rights due to
women in any civilized society. With regard to the new law men-
tioned by the Worker member of the Islamic Republic of Iran, she
strongly urged the Government to repeal it immediately. She noted
that small enterprises were common in developing countries and
that they were usually the largest employer of workers. Excluding
such small enterprises from the ambit of labour law would deprive a
large majority of workers from the basic protection of the law. In
conclusion, she called upon the Government to respect its obliga-
tions under the Convention and to immediately repeal the new law.

The Worker member of Romania recalled that this case had
been discussed several times in the past and that it had been men-
tioned seven times in a special paragraph. After reading the report
of the Committee of Experts, it appeared to him that several issues
were still unclear. For example, he noted that the legal status of the
technical mission had only been of an advisory nature and that the
sources of information had not been disclosed in the report. Ac-
cording to available information, it appeared that recent law and
practice had only increased discrimination against women and reli-
gious minorities. The participation of women in the labour market
continued to be low and they did not have access to higher posts.
Discrimination persisted in the areas of marriage, inheritance,
guardianship and divorce, as well as in the field of employment.
Legal obstacles to the promotion of women to higher positions in
the public service also remained. The situation concerning the ob-
ligatory dress code for women public employees had not improved
either. In this regard, he referred to the France-Presse news agency
which had reported last January on ten women who had been im-
prisoned for violating the dress code. Furthermore, discrimination
on the basis of religion with regard to access to education and em-
ployment still persisted. Persons who wished to study at a university
had to sit an Islamic theological examination, which prevented reli-
gious minorities from entering higher education. This religious dis-
crimination also existed in the public sector. Finally, he emphasized
that the new law exempting small enterprises with fewer than five
employees from labour legislation constituted a new violation of
ILO Conventions. He therefore requested that this case be men-
tioned in a special paragraph.

The Worker member of Canada stated that the Canadian trade
union movement had always followed the situation in the Islamic
Republic of Iran with concern and that it had always supported the
mention of this case in special paragraphs and the request of a di-
rect contacts mission. He wondered whether it was appropriate to
reconsider this approach today. Indeed, a number of developments
mentioned in the report of the Committee of Experts appeared pos-
itive and encouraging. Nevertheless, he emphasized that the report
only mentioned plans and not real change. The Board of Follow-up
and Supervision of the Implementation of the Constitution, which
had as its aim the reexamination of legislation, was an example of a
result which was still awaited. With regard to the Islamic Human
Rights Commission, which also dealt with matters related to dis-
crimination, he questioned the composition of the Commission and
its independent character and impartiality. He expressed his scepti-
cism about the future, since there had not been a real direct contacts
mission, but rather a technical mission. In this regard, he wondered
if the technical mission had really had access to victims of discrimi-
nation. Furthermore, he observed that, with the entry into force of
the new legislation on small enterprises, 3 million workers had been
deprived of fundamental rights, thus becoming even more vulnera-
ble to all forms of discrimination. Finally, he emphasized that virtu-
ally nothing had been done in this case.

The Worker member of Colombia, referring to the reports of the
Committee of Experts on Convention No. 111 and on the technical
advisory mission, said that although they contained some indica-
tions of progress, it would be a great surprise if the situation had

23/110

changed radically over such a short period. He emphasized the fun-
damental importance attached by the Conference Committee to
the observance of human rights. In this respect, he stated that it had
to be taken into account that cases of discrimination in employment
in both the public and the private sectors in the Islamic Republic of
Iran were examined by the Islamic Human Rights Commission.
However, it was not known whether this Commission was indeed of
an independent nature and of an authentically pluralistic composi-
tion. Although the Committee of Experts continued to report the
existence of acts of discrimination, the Government representative
had endeavoured to demonstrate that progress had been made. The
Committee of Experts had indicated that recent legislative reforms
appeared to include changes, but asked the Government whether it
was possible to speak of progress in these matters when only 10 per
cent of women participated in the labour market. He insisted upon
the need for a direct contacts mission which, in his view, would be
more effective than a technical advisory mission. With regard to the
ILO mission which had visited the Islamic Republic of Iran, he re-
quested information on the persons and organizations interviewed
and whether the Iranian Government had met its requirements.
The Conference Committee no longer wished to hear promises, but
wanted to see results in law and in practice. In conclusion, he ex-
pressed concern at the adoption of a new Act on 26 February 2000
which excluded enterprises with fewer than five workers from the
provisions of the Labour Code. This Act showed that, far from im-
proving, the situation was continuing to deteriorate.

The Worker member of France recalled that he had made a firm
intervention before this Committee several years ago to denounce
the discrimination against the Baha’i community. At that time the
Government representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran had se-
verely criticized his statement. He appreciated that the dialogue
was now more constructive. He was rather surprised at reading the
report and the conclusions of the Committee of Experts. In his view,
discrimination was still present in the Islamic Republic of Iran. He
recalled that the Government had declared last year that the mis-
sion could be conducted without any restrictions on its mandate.
This had, however, not been the case in practice. He referred to
paragraph 4 of the report of the Committee of Experts and high-
lighted the contradiction between the fact that, on the one hand,
only 10 per cent of women were employed, which apparently corre-
sponded to their desires, and on the other hand, laws were in force
which allowed men to prohibit their wives from working. Finally, he
requested that this case be mentioned in a special paragraph.

The Worker member of Greece recalled that this case had been
the object of discussions in a wholly different climate in the past. He
noted with pleasure the changed attitude of the Iranian Govern-
ment. He was uncertain why the Government feared a direct con-
tacts mission and had transformed it into a simple advisory mission.
With reference to the report of the Committee of Experts, he fully
agreed with the observations made by the Worker member of
France. He also emphasized that the word “Islamic” should not be
part of the title of the Committee on Human Rights, as this meant
at the outset that religious minorities would not be recognized by it.
With regard to the discriminatory measures, he was of the view that
international public opinion would not be appeased by statistics,
but required concrete action. He also emphasized that the Islamic
Republic of Iran had not ratified Conventions Nos. 87 and 98. Final-
ly, he considered that this case should be mentioned in a special par-
agraph, not as a sanction, but in order to enable observers to be
informed both on the progress accomplished and on what remained
to be done.

The Worker member of Pakistan stated that it was positive that
the Government had accepted the mission and opened dialogue.
He also noted with great interest the interventions concerning the
contradiction between law and practice in the Islamic Republic of
Iran and Convention No. 111. He expressed particular concern re-
garding the reference that the Iranian Worker member had made to
the new Act which deprived workers in enterprises employing less
than five persons of all labour protection and social benefits. He
further recalled previous discussions in this Committee in which the
Government had displayed little interest in heeding the requests of
the Committee of Experts. The fact that a dialogue had now been
established was positive. He recalled, however, that the Govern-
ment was bound by an international obligation to remove all dis-
crimination based on gender, race, colour or creed both in practice
and in law. He expressed the wish that by its next meeting the Com-
mittee would be able to note clear progress in this respect and that
the recently adopted law would be repealed.

The Government representative stated his appreciation of the
views expressed during the discussion tending to constructive dia-
logue. He recalled that when a government was considering the rat-
ification of a Convention, it studied its law and practice and, once it
had determined that there were no contradictions, proceeded to
ratify the Convention. His Government believed there were no
contradictions; it was determined to implement all the provisions of


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C87
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C98
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

the Convention in full and requested the assistance of the ILO in
that regard. In replying to the points raised during the discussion, he
offered to provide all the available information to the ILO after it
had been translated. With regard to the issue of religion, he pointed
out that the new President had established the Supervisory Com-
mission on the Implementation of the Constitution, the mandate of
which covered all Iranians irrespective of their sex or religion. He
also stated that the members of the Islamic Human Rights Commis-
sion were independent and that it was not just dealing with prob-
lems of Iranian Muslims. All Iranians could refer violations of their
rights to this Commission. He recalled that the Protection of the
Family Act gave the same rights to women as those granted to men
in section 1117 of the Civil Code. With regard to the participation of
women in education, he noted that UNICEF had reported on the
increased participation of girls in the education system and the role
of women in raising educational standards. For example, over
70 per cent of the candidates accepted for pharmaceutical examina-
tions were women and their marks were better than those of men.
He referred members of the Committee to the detailed statistics
found in the UNESCO report. He also offered to provide a list of
high-ranking women in the Government, including the Vice-Presi-
dent, deans of universities, and members of parliament. Concerning
the new law on small enterprises, he noted that the workers had
protested against the law and the Ministry of Labour and Social
Affairs had objected to its adoption. He indicated that the new Par-
liament would soon address the issue again and consider a new law.
On the subject of the recognized religious minorities, he empha-
sized that they were represented in Parliament and had enjoyed a
long tradition of peaceful coexistence within the country. Although
the members of the Baha’i faith did not belong to a recognized reli-
gious minority, under the terms of the legislation on the rights of
citizenship approved by the Expediency Council in 1999, all Irani-
ans enjoyed the rights of citizenship irrespective of their belief. The
Government was making all efforts to remove difficulties within the
framework of the Constitution. In conclusion, he recalled that the
ILO mission had been made welcome although the discussions had
sometimes been difficult. Everything should be done to facilitate
the continuation of the constructive measures taken by the Govern-
ment, including the holding of seminars and training courses. In
view of the efforts which were being made, his Government looked
forward to cooperation from all concerned.

The Employer members emphasized the importance of the
Government making a demonstrable improvement in its law and
practice before the next meeting of the Conference Committee. It
would be necessary for it to provide the relevant amended legisla-
tion and statistical evidence to prove to everyone that meaningful
progress was being made in complying with the provisions of the
Convention.

The Worker members stated that between now and next year
proof would need to be provided of the progress which had been
made. The evidence should be reflected in the text of the report of
the Committee of Experts next year. On the basis of the informa-
tion provided during the discussion, the Committee should recog-
nize the positive attitude shown by the Government and the value
of the ILO mission. It should also express a cautious welcome with
regard to certain positive developments in the country, while em-
phasizing the serious nature of the shortcomings in the application
of the Convention. It should also urge the Committee of Experts in
its next report to include a detailed assessment of the situation with
regard to compliance with the Convention in practice and, in partic-
ular, in law. The Government’s request for ILO assistance should
also be noted.

The Committee took note of the statement made by the Gov-
ernment representative and the subsequent discussions. It recalled
that this case had been the subject of discussion in the Committee
over a number of years and that serious divergencies from the re-
quirements of the Convention had been noted. It also recalled that
last year it had welcomed the Government’s request for a technical
mission to examine all points raised concerning the application of
the Convention, and that the report of the mission had been reflect-
ed in the report of the Committee of Experts. The Committee not-
ed with concern that some legal restrictions remained on the em-
ployment of women, including the fact that women judges were still
unable to render verdicts, and section 1117 of the Civil Code. In
spite of the progress in participation rates, women’s participation in
the labour market remained very low. It noted that the Govern-
ment was examining measures to remove the formal obstacles to
equality for women, and noted the intention to hold a national sem-
inar on workers’ fundamental rights before the end of 2000. The
Committee also regretted the legal and social obstacles to equality
which still remained for religious minorities, although it noted the
Government’s intention to take measures in this regard. The Com-
mittee urged the Government to continue to work towards im-
provements in the application of the Convention in law and in prac-
tice, including the promotion of greater tolerance for all groups in

the country, and to be vigilant in prohibiting discriminatory practic-
es on the grounds enshrined in the Convention. It noted neverthe-
less that serious questions of application of the Convention still re-
mained. The Committee requested the Government to submit all
the information provided orally during the meeting to the Commit-
tee of Experts. It also requested the Government to report in detail
to the Committee of Experts on the concrete measures taken to
address the questions raised by the Committee of Experts and this
Committee, including detailed statistical analysis of the participa-
tion of women and men and minorities in the labour market in both
the public and the private sectors. The Committee expressed the
firm hope that the Government would deal with the issues raised as
a matter of urgency and would be in a position next year to report
progress on the outstanding issues in order to ensure the full appli-
cation of the Convention in law and in practice and requested the
Committee of Experts to provide a detailed assessment of compli-
ance with law and practice. The Committee encouraged the Gov-
ernment to continue cooperation with the ILO.

Convention No. 122: Employment Policy, 1964

Hungary (ratification: 1966). A Government representative
stated with reference to article 24 of the ILO Constitution that, in
1997, the National Federation of Workers’ Councils submitted a
representation against the Hungarian Government, alleging non-
observance of Conventions Nos. 111 and 122. The representation
related to a 1995 government measure. The ILO Governing Body
set up a tripartite committee to examine the case. Under individual
observations in Part 1A of its Report III, the Committee of Experts
on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations dis-
cussed this issue under both Conventions Nos. 111 and 122, on the
basis of the statements of the Committee and information provided
by the Government. The Officers of the Committee requested the
Government to express its standpoint regarding those aspects of
this issue that were of relevance for Convention No. 122. In 1995, in
a situation of financial emergency, the Hungarian Government ap-
proved a supplementary budget act requiring, among other things,
a reduction in costs provoking lay-offs in higher education. The rep-
resentation contested the manner in which the measures in question
were implemented. The Government admitted that certain unlaw-
ful steps were taken in the course of the implementation of the
measures concerned, which were likewise pointed out by the Hun-
garian authorities. It did not wish to plead that these had occurred
under the previous Government, as they affected the fate of indi-
viduals — hopefully not irremediably. On the other hand, lessons
could be drawn from the issues involved as regards the develop-
ment of employment policy for the Government in office at the
time. Points 1 and 2 of the report of the Committee of Experts sum-
marized some sections of the latest government report on the im-
plementation of Convention No. 122. Under point 3, the Commit-
tee of Experts noted the higher labour market participation rate of
men than women, and requested the Government to provide fur-
ther information on measures to promote employment amongst
women. The Government representative pointed out that the lower
labour market participation rate of women was not a specifically
Hungarian phenomenon. According to the OECD (Employment
Outlook, 1999), in 1998, among those aged 15-65, the participation
rate of women was lower than that of men in most developed coun-
tries. In the countries of the European Union, the average differ-
ence was 20 per cent. In Hungary, the corresponding rate was some-
what more favourable at 16 per cent, but this occurred at a lower
employment level. The lower unemployment rate of women than of
men, on the other hand, was a specific, and positive, Hungarian fea-
ture: in 1999, the respective annual average rates were 7.5 per cent
for men and 6.3 per cent for women. However, the Government
remained dissatisfied with the situation and was making efforts to
improve it, through job creation and by promoting the employment
of women.

He highlighted two of the employment policy objectives for the
year 2000 set by Governmental Decree: (1) employment expansion
and, in the long-term, attainment of full employment, in accordance
with the objectives of the European Union; (2) moderation of la-
bour market discrepancies, in particular by promoting an equal op-
portunity policy, one of the four pillars of the European Union em-
ployment strategy. Over the last few years, the Government had
taken the following measures, besides specific programmes and
amendments to legal regulations, with a view to reinforcing the
principle of equal opportunity for women: protection under labour
law; shorter working hours for minors, pregnant women, mothers/
parents; improvement of labour market opportunities for women
and parents with young children, achieved through the following
programmes: teleworking; part-time employment promotion; pro-
motion of potential entrepreneurs; improved labour law protection
to parents returning to work from childcare leave; free legal coun-

23/111


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C122
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C122

selling programme launched by the Ministry of Social and Family
Affairs to remedy and prevent discrimination at the workplace; au-
thorization of the labour inspection authorities to investigate alle-
gations of violations of the principle of equal opportunity, and the
training of labour inspectors. The case in question had encouraged
the Government to put through legal amendments to remedy the
situation which permitted discrimination arising from differences
between the pension eligibility criteria of men and women. Al-
though not directly linked to the issue of discrimination, certain as-
pects of the same issue also encouraged the Government to take
steps to shorten court procedures by substantially raising the courts’
budgets. As a result, the duration of labour law proceedings had
shortened radically, thus improving the position of workers in-
volved in such litigation. Technical training was provided to job cen-
tres so as to enable them to act effectively in cases of possible mass
lay-offs.

Further action plans included: the evaluation of the programmes
launched to assist women; the extension of those which proved via-
ble, with special regard to the improvement of labour market op-
portunities for mothers with children and persons near retirement
age; encouragement of the social partners and strengthening of
cooperation between the Government and social partners; prepara-
tion of the appropriate transformation of the system of statistical
accounting; adoption by the Government of every equal opportuni-
ty directive of the European Union this year. The Government rep-
resentative had submitted statistical data concerning the develop-
ment of employment of women over a period of time to the Office.

Point 4 was related to the concerns that arose in the Committee
of Experts expressed in respect of the 1998 termination of the Min-
istry of Labour. This termination had been one of the measures the
Government instigated on taking office in June 1998. The first
question before the Government concerned the procedures to
monitor the effectiveness of its measures to promote economic and
social development. In June 1998 the Government reallocated the
responsibilities of the former Ministry of Labour as follows: em-
ployment policy-making, managing active employment measures,
and collective bargaining came under the Ministry of Economic
Affairs; issues related to vocational training came under the Minis-
try of Education; adult training and labour market training, the
employment service, passive employment policies, labour law and
labour inspection stayed with the Ministry of Social and Family Af-
fairs, who took over the full powers of the former Ministry of La-
bour. The idea behind the present structure of the Government was
that if job creation was to be its most important employment policy
objective, it was best served by being firmly grounded in economic
policy. His Government was of the opinion that these measures had
been justified. Now halfway through its term, his Government was
currently evaluating its experience so far in office, and it was prob-
able that corrective measures would be taken in order to increase
the effectiveness of the cabinet. His Government would notify the
ILO of such corrective measures in due course.

With regard to discussion and procedures of employment-relat-
ed issues within the Government, in line with Article 2 of the Con-
vention, the Government had established employment policy ob-
jectives in a Decree, the implementation of which involved several
ministries. These objectives had been fixed for the year 2000 bear-
ing the European Employment Strategy in mind, as well as the
guidelines adopted by the European Council. In the same section,
the Committee of Experts had also inquired about the way in which
the dissolution of the Ministry of Labour affected the consultation
process with employers’ and workers’ organizations and other ac-
tors. It could be assumed from the question, that the Committee of
Experts was aware of the fact that Hungary had had soundly oper-
ating institutional forms of social dialogue ever since the political
changes which had taken place within the country. The former na-
tional tripartite consultative forum — the Council for the Reconcil-
iation of Interests — had been replaced, although its participants
virtually unchanged, by the National Labour Council. This forum
fully retained the authority held previously by the Council for the
Reconciliation of Interests, which included both determining the
national minimum wage, as well as tasks provided under the La-
bour Protection Act, and it also ensured a consultative forum con-
cerning issues related to the world of labour. The Governing Body
of the Labour Market Fund operated principally in the field of con-
sultation and was responsible for decisions concerning subjects re-
lated to the world of labour. This tripartite body discussed the Gov-
ernment’s employment policy objectives and priorities, and decided
on the allocation of funds from the Labour Market Fund used to
implement employment policy objectives and those to be allocated
to active and passive measures; it was also responsible for the allo-
cation of central funds, available for national programmes, and the
decentralized financial resources to be channelled to the districts
and countries. On a county or district level, the use of these was
decided on by the county labour councils, jointly with representa-
tives of local governments. His Government had also created the

23/112

Economic Council and the National ILO Council. Strategic consul-
tation undertaken in the Economic Council concerned the whole of
the economy, and comprised, besides the traditional social partners,
other actors, such as the Economic Chambers and the Banking As-
sociation. The National ILO Council held a mandate in conformity
with the Tripartite Consultation (International Labour Standards)
Convention, 1976 (No. 144). To the speaker’s best understanding,
the social partners were satisfied with its performance. It was a
great honour for the members of the Council when the Director-
General of the ILO participated at one of their sessions during his
visit to Budapest in May this year. In compliance with article 22 of
the ILO Constitution the Government had prepared a detailed re-
portin 1999 on the implementation of Convention No. 144, describ-
ing the new system of collective bargaining. The Council unani-
mously accepted the report.

In point 5 of its report, the Committee of Experts requested the
Government to provide further information in its next report under
article 22. The Government had taken note of the Committee of
Experts’ request, and would be pleased to satisfy it.

The Worker members thanked the Government representative
for the detailed information he had supplied and recalled that this
was the first time the case had come before the Committee on the
Application of Standards although the Committee of Experts had
previously commented (in 1993, 1996 and 1998) on Hungary’s ap-
plication of Convention No. 122. The Worker members emphasized
the importance of a genuine employment policy in the context of
globalization; the need to frame a coherent, integrated and non-dis-
criminatory employment policy; and the significance of tripartite
consultation on all employment-related aspects of social and eco-
nomic policy. The Worker members noted with concern employ-
ment developments in Hungary and in particular the comments
made by the Committee of Experts on employment policy and its
effects on employment in general. The Worker members drew at-
tention to three matters raised by the Committee of Experts in its
report. The first concerned the labour market participation rate for
men and women. According to information in the Government’s
report the rate for men was higher than women’s. This raised the
issue of compliance with Article 1, paragraph 2(c) of the Conven-
tion, which provided for a non-discriminatory employment policy.
Doubtless, some of the blame could be attributed to social attitudes
unfavourable to women workers. However, inasmuch as the com-
plaint against Hungary submitted under article 24 of the ILO Con-
stitution alleged breaches of Convention No. 111 and of Article 1,
paragraph 2(c), of Convention No. 122, there were serious indica-
tions that discrimination was also due to the Government’s employ-
ment policy; that was central to the debate. The representation
against Hungary concerned the effects of the Supplementary Budg-
et Act of 1995, which provided for a reduction in personnel expens-
es in institutions of higher education. The Worker members ob-
served that the Committee which had been set up under article 24
of the ILO Constitution and examined the representation was una-
ble for want of sufficient information to reach a firm conclusion. For
that reason they agreed with the Committee of Experts that more
specific information be requested notably on the actual impact of
the 1995 Act on higher education and detailed statistics assessing
the respective effects of the Act on men and women. While the
Government had furnished information, the Worker members con-
sidered that much more detailed statistics were necessary to assess
the real impact of the 1995 Act. The third point raised by the Com-
mittee of Experts concerned the Government’s decision to dissolve,
purely and simply, the Ministry of Labour and to distribute its previ-
ous functions to various separate ministries, such as the Ministry of
Economy, the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Social and
Family Affairs. The Worker members regarded this development
as worrying and largely at odds with the provisions of the Conven-
tion concerning coordinated employment policies that integrated
economic and social issues. The Worker members accordingly sup-
ported the questions raised by the Committee of Experts in this re-
spect for it was necessary to establish how the Government man-
aged to fulfil its obligations under Articles2 and 3 of the
Convention and what procedures it had adopted to ensure that its
various policy decisions, whether at the planning or implementation
stages, had a positive impact on employment. They seriously doubt-
ed whether measures had been taken to guarantee a coordinated
employment policy. Under the circumstances they wondered
whether the country had effective tripartite consultative machinery
that could contribute to the framing of a dynamic employment pol-
icy following the dissolution of the Ministry of Labour. They feared
that dissolution of the Ministry might have a harmful effect on the
employment situation in Hungary, for which they expressed deep
concern.

The Employer members stated that this was the first time the
case of Hungary was being dealt with by the Committee. They
thanked the Government representative for the detailed and com-
prehensive information he had just supplied to the Committee.


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C144
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C122
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

They further noted that information contained in the Government’s
report was relevant for the period May 1996 to May 1998 and hence
dealt with a past situation. With regard to the content, the Commit-
tee of Experts had examined numbers concerning employment and
unemployment rates. It was surprising that, while the potential
workforce was growing in the country, the number of economically
active persons had declined. There was a decrease in labour supply
in response to a decrease in labour demand. The Employer mem-
bers believed that this was due to the phenomena of extended edu-
cation and training periods and early retirement. As a result, there
was an obvious decrease in the number of economically active per-
sons. Turning to the issue of employment rates for men and women,
they noted from the Committee of Experts’ comments that the la-
bour market participation rate was higher for men than for women
and from the Government representative’s statement that the situa-
tion was similar in many other countries. They were of the view that
evolution in society and different expectations could explain the
statistical data provided by the Government which illustrated that
the unemployment rate for women was lower than for men.

The Employer members pointed out that the objective of Con-
vention No. 122 was to obtain a comprehensive overall picture con-
cerning employment policy. Economic and social policies were part
of government policy, therefore an isolated view on issues concern-
ing employment policy was not possible. They expressed their sur-
prise over the fact that the Committee of Experts had raised the
issue regarding the dissolution of the Ministry of Labour. There
was, of course, a long-standing tradition regarding the establish-
ment of labour ministries. If the Ministry of Labour had been dis-
solved, obviously its task had been distributed to other ministries.
What was important was that the tasks traditionally carried out by
the Ministry of Labour were undertaken by another body. It was
therefore of minor importance to which ministry or institution these
tasks were distributed. The Employer members believed, however,
that the Committee of Experts was more concerned about the man-
ner in which the dissolution had probably affected consultation with
employers’ and workers’ representatives on subjects concerning the
coordination of employment policy. In this regard, the Employer
members welcomed the information provided by the Government
representative to the effect that tripartite consultations were effec-
tively carried out in the country. With reference to the conclusions
of the Committee set up to examine the representation made under
article 24 of the ILO Constitution, to which the Committee of Ex-
perts also referred, the Government should supply additional infor-
mation in order to determine the effect of the Supplementary
Budget Act of 1995 which had been the subject of the abovemen-
tioned representation. Since the Government representative had
shown his Government’s readiness to provide this information, the
Committee’s conclusions should mainly reflect this aspect. The
Employer members concluded that the issue of employment policy
was an ongoing duty of each government and that the Committee
would certainly come back to these cases.

The Worker member of Hungary indicated that in 1995, more
than 10,000 employees were dismissed within some weeks at the
higher education institutions in Hungary in connection with the
Supplementary Budget Act of 1995 which decreased the staffing
costs and the budgetary contributions of these institutions. At the
same time, Government Decree No. 1023/1995 prescribed a 15 per
cent staff reduction for higher education institutions. This was fol-
lowed by a Ministry of Culture and Public Education measure also
ordering these institutions to undertake the staff reductions. The
Government fixed a deadline of only three months for the execu-
tion of the staff reduction. The purpose of this mass redundancy was
to make savings in the state budget. However, no consultations had
been held with the workers’ representatives or the universities be-
fore taking this decision. The government decision had not been
taken with respect to any aspect of an employment policy. With re-
gard to the legal aspects of the case, the Hungarian Constitutional
Court had qualified the Decree and the Ministry of Education
measures as anti-constitutional and had cancelled them on 22 June
1995, on the grounds that the measures constituted unlawful inter-
ference with the autonomy of the universities. However, the staff
reduction measures were nevertheless implemented. Moreover, al-
though the Parliamentary Commissioner of Citizens’ Rights (the
Ombudsman) had asked the Ministry of Education to take the nec-
essary measures to remedy the harm done to the teachers and the
researchers concerned, no action had been taken. Finally, in 1997
Parliament ordered the setting up of a special committee to assess
the implementation of the whole staff reduction process — in ac-
cordance with the Ombudsman’s suggestion — but this committee
was never established. Regarding the social aspects of the case,
since the Government had not taken into consideration the employ-
ment effects nor the social aspects of the staff reduction measures,
the vast majority of the employees concerned had still not obtained
any financial, moral or any other kind of remedy. As regards the
Government’s current employment policy, she pointed out that the

social partners were still not involved in the formulation and prepa-
ration of national employment policy. In Hungary at the moment,
there was no special labour or employment ministry. Employment
policy was shared between three ministries. The Ministry of Econo-
my was responsible for reconciliation and employment policy; the
Ministry of Social and Family Affairs dealt with social matters and
employment policy; the Ministry of Education was responsible for
training, retraining and vocational training policy. Consultation
with the social partners at the national level was being carried out
within several special tripartite or multipartite councils set up by
the Government last year. The main new councils were: the Nation-
al Labour Council; the Council of Economy; the National ILO
Council; the Council of Social Affairs; and the Committee for Euro-
pean Union Integration. The trade unions were not perfectly satis-
fied with this new structure and especially not with its operation.

The Worker member of France observed that over the past few
years a good many countries had changed the names of their Minis-
try of Labour and restyled them Ministry of Employment or Minis-
try of Employment and Social Affairs. Those changes generally re-
flected progress towards the implementation of more active
employment policies with an accent on the initial and ongoing train-
ing of workers, including the long term unemployed, and the inte-
gration of young people and women in the labour market. It was an
innovative and original step to dissolve purely and simply the Min-
istry of Labour and reallocate its functions to other ministries. Al-
though Convention No. 22 did not stipulate what structure a gov-
ernment should have, governments had to be structured in such a
way as to be able to implement the effective employment policies
that the Convention required. In this respect, the treatment of staff
in institutions of higher education under the Supplementary Budget
Act of 1995 was a cause of particular concern, the more so in so far
as training was an essential weapon in the battle against unemploy-
ment. According to the report of the Committee of Experts, Hun-
gary plainly had a critical need for an active and coordinated em-
ployment policy. Only a very small proportion of the active
population was employed. The proportion of long-term unem-
ployed workers was exceptionally high (having risen to nearly
50 per cent, despite a slight drop in recent years) and the average
duration that people remained without work was quite long (in the
order of 19 months). That suggested high levels of “moonlighting”,
a lively informal economy and widespread unlawful activities. It
therefore had to be asked what means the Government had to carry
out effective and coherent policies to reduce unemployment, train
workers, generate employment (self-employment or wage earn-
ing), etc. and what means it had to follow up these policies and en-
sure coordination with social policy generally.

Convention No. 122 derived from the ILO’s Constitution itself,
in particular from the Declaration of Philadelphia which enjoined
the Organization to support programmes that promoted productive
and freely chosen employment and the raising of standards of liv-
ing, the reduction of unemployment and the guarantee of a salary
sufficient for acceptable living conditions. Convention No. 122 also
followed from the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which
said that “everyone has the right to work, to free choice of employ-
ment, to just and favourable conditions of work and to protection
against unemployment”. Convention No. 122 required member
States to declare and pursue, as a major goal, an active policy de-
signed to promote full employment for all who were available for
and seeking work. The measures required and adopted to this effect
had to be decided on and kept under review within the framework
of a coordinated economic and social policy. Representatives of the
persons affected by the measures to be taken, in particular repre-
sentatives of employers and workers, had to be consulted concern-
ing employment policies, with a view to taking fully into account
their experience and views and securing their full cooperation in
formulating and enlisting support for such policies. Without ques-
tion, Hungary greatly needed an active and coordinated employ-
ment policy. It had to be asked how such coordination could be en-
sured when the functions of the Ministry of Labour had been
parcelled out among various other ministries. The same question
arose concerning consultation and ongoing collaboration with the
social partners, areas in which significant gaps seemed to have ap-
peared. It was the role of a Ministry of Labour or a Ministry of
Employment and Social Affairs to frame such policies, to coordi-
nate them with other policies and consult and collaborate with the
social partners, to draft labour legislation and follow its application,
to help the unemployed find work again and take measures that
guaranteed suitable unemployment compensation, and to give
women equal access to employment. The Hungarian approach was
to subordinate social issues to economic ones in denial of their in-
herent value under the ILO Constitution. It was therefore impor-
tant for the Government to open consultations quickly with the so-
cial partners to examine ways and means to achieve an effective
and coherent employment policy in keeping with the aims of the
Convention and to comply with its provisions. The right to work

23/113


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C22
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C122

was a basic human right since it enabled workers to provide for
their own needs as well as those of their family. It was, to be sure, for
the Government to choose the most appropriate means of safe-
guarding that right. In any event it had to protect it. The statistics
before the Committee demonstrated that this right had not been
implemented. The Worker member appealed, therefore, to the
Government of Hungary to frame an active, coordinated and co-
herent employment policy fully involving the social players and to
set up an effective and coherent coordination structure.

The Worker member of Romania stated that although this Com-
mittee was examining the case of Hungary for the first time, the
Committee of Experts had already formulated three observations
regarding the application of this Convention by Hungary and un-
derlined the importance of Convention No. 122 for workers. The
fact that the labour market participation rate was lower for women
than for men was a violation of Article 1, paragraph 2(c), of the
Convention. The second point raised by the Committee of Experts
in its observation concerned the representation presented under
article 24 of the ILO Constitution. The representation related to
the application of the Supplementary Budget Act of 1995 which had
resulted in the mass dismissals of employees of institutions of higher
education. As regards the third point raised by the Committee of
Experts, namely the pure and simple dissolution of the Ministry of
Labour, he considered the situation to be unacceptable. The nega-
tive effects of such a decision on the consultation process between
the social partners could already be foreseen.

A Worker member of Italy stated that it was quite clear that
employment policy and social dialogue remained a major problem
in Hungary with no adequate and effective strategies especially to
fight long-term unemployment and enhance equal opportunity pro-
grammes to include women in the labour market and promote job
creation in the emerging sector. The so-called growth promotion
strategy indicated in the Committee of Experts’ report could not
succeed due to structural mistakes within the government measures
and total lack of social dialogue. The first structural problem was
linked to the splitting of the Ministry of Labour. This fragmentation
of responsibilities and lack of effective coordination represented a
major handicap for effective employment programmes. Such pro-
grammes needed a higher synergy in the monitoring, planning and
implementation stages, especially to face long-term unemployment
and to adapt vocational training to match market supply and de-
mand. It would appear that there was still a lack of an appropriate
investment policy in areas with higher unemployment in order to
create better conditions in terms of infrastructure to attract produc-
tive investments. There appeared also to be a lack of appropriate
social measures to support affected workers and help them to find
new jobs. This critical situation also risked producing a high emigra-
tion of young unemployed persons towards neighbouring countries
thereby creating a critical social situation which would undermine
economic and social stability. A joint coordinated socio-economic
employment plan within the Government and at all levels of public
administration needed to be defined with the full inclusion and par-
ticipation of employers’ and workers’ organizations in the search
for adequate solutions. Such social dialogue, however, was not im-
plemented even though a national labour council and other bodies
existed on paper. Empty institutions needed to be clearly restruc-
tured in order to develop a joint employment pact between the
Government and employers’ and workers’ organizations. Moreo-
ver, an effective employment policy had to be promoted jointly with
respect for core labour standards. This lack of implementation of
adequate employment policies and plans had been sharply criti-
cized by the European Committee and the Economic and Social
Committee of the European Union in more than one report, in view
of employment in the European Union (EU) and the entry of Hun-
gary in the EU. The most significant example of the lack of such an
employment policy in Hungary was the dismissal of more than
10,000 employees in the higher education institutions due to budget
restrictions. No consultations with the union and, above all, no so-
cial measures had been taken to help the workers find new ade-
quate jobs. The Government should therefore promote a funda-
mental change of strategy to be verified by this Committee. A joint
task force between all interested authorities and social partners
both at the national and local levels should be set up with the sup-
port of the ILO MDT, thus taking advantage of European pro-
grammes and positive experiences in social dialogue.

The Government representative acknowledged the statements
by the Worker member of Hungary. However, he recalled that the
issues raised dated back to 1995 and therefore concerned the previ-
ous administration. He stressed that the new administration had
learned from the mistakes of the prior Government. As far as the
functioning of a coordinated employment policy was concerned, it
did not depend on the existence of a Ministry of Labour. He noted
that the distribution of powers was a matter for the Government
and that coordination must take place at the government level. In
his Government’s view, it was imperative that the issue of employ-

23/114

ment policy be handled correctly and that it must form part of the
Government’s policies as a whole. In conclusion, he stated that the
coordination of employment policy as well as tripartite consulta-
tions were functioning correctly.

The Worker members took note of the information furnished by
the Government representative. They asked that he transmit all the
information requested to the Committee of Experts so as to con-
clude the representation presented against the Hungarian Govern-
ment under article 24 of the ILO Constitution. They noted that the
Government was preparing reforms to its statistical data manage-
ment and invited it to keep the Committee of Experts informed of
any developments in this regard. Regarding the issue of employ-
ment policy, they emphasized that it was not the name of the com-
petent ministry which was important but rather the substance of the
policy to be implemented as well as consultations between employ-
ers’ and workers’ representatives. They requested the Government
to take advantage of ILO technical assistance in order to establish a
truly coordinated employment and social policy.

The Employer members believed that the Government repre-
sentative had already supplied comprehensive information on this
case to the Conference Committee and indicated that the Commit-
tee’s conclusions should request the Government to keep the Office
fully informed on all employment policy matters in future reports to
the Committee of Experts.

The Committee noted the detailed information, including statis-
tics, supplied by the Government representative, and the discussion
which followed. It was concerned by the continuing low rate of em-
ployment in the country, particularly for women, and the effect of
the employment policy on women. It noted, however, that the Gov-
ernment had adopted a policy of promoting economic growth which
was expected to have the effect of increasing employment opportu-
nities, and hoped the Government would provide detailed informa-
tion on the effect of this strategy. It also hoped the Government
would submit additional information on its efforts to increase the
labour market participation of both men and women. The Commit-
tee noted the dissolution of the Ministry of Labour and the redistri-
bution of its functions. It expressed the hope that the Government
would furnish the detailed information requested by the Commit-
tee of Experts on the effects of this decision on employment and on
the promotion of economic growth. This should include informa-
tion on the effect of this move on ensuring that a coherent employ-
ment policy was pursued, as well as on consultations with employ-
ers’ and workers’ organizations and other forms of social dialogue.
It asked the Government to ensure that employment policy in con-
formity with the Convention was assured, and that social dialogue
was not compromised.

Convention No. 169: Indigenous and Tribal Peoples, 1989

Mexico (ratification: 1990). The Government has sent the fol-
lowing information:

With regard to the first paragraph of the observation of the
Committee of Experts, the Government has reaffirmed its desire to
pursue cooperation with the ILO not only by submitting reports
and information requested from time to time, but also by the imple-
mentation, when necessary, of specific recommendations. With ref-
erence to the 1996 observation of the Committee of Experts, on 24
May 1999, the Government organized a “Seminar on the Inspection
of Labour Conditions in the Rural Sector”. This technical coopera-
tion included the participation of ILO officials, representatives of
indigenous peoples’ organizations, and officials of the Mexican
Government.

The second paragraph deals with the protection of land rights of
the Huichol Indian community of San Andrés Cohamiata, in the
municipality of Mezquitic, Jalisco. In June 1998 the Governing
Body adopted the report of the committee set up to examine the
representation concerning the violation by Mexico of ILO Conven-
tion No. 169, submitted under article 24 of the ILO Constitution by
the Radio Education Trade Union Delegation, D-III-57,
section XI, of the National Radio Education Trade Union (SNTE).
The Government of Mexico had received supplementary informa-
tion from this trade union delegation in August 1999 and replied in
October 1999. At this stage, the Committee of Experts requested
the Government to provide detailed information in its next report.
The Government of Mexico provided the information as requested
to the ILO on this representation concerning an alleged violation of
Convention No. 169. According to the complainant, the Mexican
authorities have not returned to the Huichol Indian community of
San Andrés Cohamiata, and in particular to the “Tierra Blanca”
group of Huichol Indians, land they had historically possessed and
which had been given to another rural mixed-race population at
Nayarit. This case has been on judicial appeal for several years. In
this regard, the Government had presented its comments in com-
munications dated 24 November 1997, 8 December 1997, and 9 and


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C122
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169

24 March 1998. The Committee of Experts is already aware of the
decision of the Agrarian Unity Tribunal of Tepic, Nayarit, of district
XIX, which is the authority in charge of examining the “amparo”
No. 430/96 (request for constitutional review), brought by the indig-
enous people of “Tierra Blanca” in application of the executory
decision of the third circuit collegial tribunal which declared the
lower court’s decision groundless, resulting in the appeal procedure
to clarify the terms used in the judgement which protected them.
The “Asociacion jaliciense de apoyo a grupos indigenas” (AJAGI)
was legally involved in the controversy concerning San Andrés Co-
hamiata and “Tierra Blanca”. This association developed manage-
ment advisory training and agrarian military defence and human
rights activities in the Huichol region, in the states of Jalisco and
Nayarit, and is funded by the Indian National Institute (INT) to de-
velop its activities in the framework of a coordination programme
of conventions regarding legal recourse. Detailed information will
be supplied on this case in the next report of the Government in
2001; however, this discussion is a suitable forum at which to indi-
cate that the case is before the Agrarian Unitary Tribunal. Con-
cerning the executory act previously mentioned, on-site inspection
is presently taking place.

The third paragraph of the observation of the Committee of Ex-
perts refers to a representation concerning land rights of the indige-
nous community of Chinanteco displaced in the Uxpanapa Valley
in Veracruz. In November 1999 the Governing Body adopted the
report of the committee set up to examine the representation con-
cerning the violation by Mexico of ILO Convention No. 169. The
representation had been submitted under article 24 of the ILO
Constitution by the Radical Trade Union of Metal and Similar
Workers. In January 1999 the Mexican Government received a re-
quest for information on the indigenous community of Chinanteco,
and provided a reply on 25 February 1999. At this stage, the Com-
mittee of Experts requested the Government to provide informa-
tion on the measures taken to bring a solution to the situation of the
indigenous community of Chinanteco. The Government of Mexico
has informed the ILO of the situation of the indigenous population
of Chinanteco which had been displaced from their native land of
Oaxaca in the Uxpanapa Valley, following a government decision
to build a dam in 1972, and of the complaints regarding presidential
decrees ordering their displacement. Reserving the right to provide
supplementary information in the report it is preparing, the Gov-
ernment of Mexico has provided the following information on the
current situation.

In the first place, the Government had concentrated its efforts
on communication with the indigenous community of Chinanteco
resettled in the Uxpanapa Valley. To this end the INI has supported
the creation of social organizations such as the Committee for the
Defence of Indian Rights, Chinanteco-Zoque-Totonaco and the In-
dian Council of Uxpanapa to protect the rights of the communities
and to further economic and social development. Parallel to this,
there is a Regional Indian Fund in the Uxpanapa Valley which sup-
ports the organizational process of the communities and promotes
regional development. A Regional Indian Fund for the women of
Chinanteco will be set up in August to promote training and devel-
opment with regard to gender questions. Following its creation in
1996, the free municipality of Uxpanapa has benefited from signifi-
cant financial resources: 15 million pesos during the past five years,
financing public works, food projects and, in general, all economic
and social development projects of the region. In November and
December 1999, the INI developed workshops for evaluation and
planning of infrastructures. These workshops helped to provide fi-
nancing for various agricultural programmes and the purchase of
machinery. Since January 1999, the municipality of the Uxpanapa
Valley has the following public services: 19 systems of drinking wa-
ter, 26 electrical energy networks, one drainage infrastructure, a
market, a garrison, municipal agencies, a post office, a satellite tele-
phone and a radio communication system. Concerning education,
there were 44 creches, 67 primary schools, nine secondary schools,
two high schools and five dormitories for students of the INI. Con-
cerning public health: one clinic of the ISSSTE, the IMSS-COPLA-
MA and a health secretariat, eight treatment centres organized by
the health secretariat of the government of Veracruz, and six rural
medical units.

The fourth paragraph of the observation referred to a loss of a
right of inalienability of indigenous lands, to agreements with multi-
national enterprises allowing exploitation of mineral and forestry
resources on indigenous lands without the involvement of indige-
nous peoples as contemplated in the Convention, the failure to take
account of results of consultations with indigenous representatives
concerning constitutional reforms, and allegations of abuse and ex-
ploitation of indigenous migrant workers. In September 1999, the
International Labour Office sent the Government of Mexico infor-
mation concerning a second report from the Authentic Workers’
Front (FAT) on the situation of the indigenous populations in Mex-
ico. The Government provided its comments on 5 November 1999.

The Committee of Experts considered that the information provid-
ed in this reply was insufficient.

(a) The Government considers that land rights belong to every
Mexican Indian. The lands of Indian populations can be consid-
ered in three different ways which are recognized by the Con-
stitution: national, private and social. With regard to the com-
position of the population, the communes and the communities
can be Indian or mixed-race; all are not made up of exclusively
indigenous populations. Similarly, the indigenous populations
of Mexico are not all organized in communes. Concerning the
arguments according to which the protection of land of indige-
nous peoples had been ended with the repeal of the Federal
Law on Agrarian Reform of 1972, according to which the
Agrarian Reform of 1992 would render indigenous land trans-
ferable, attachable and seizable, it must be observed that the
Constitution and numerous relevant articles of the Agrarian
Law prove the contrary, since article 27 of the Constitution rec-
ognized the legal personality of the ejido (collective lands) and
comunidades and that Title VII, paragraph 2, deals with protec-
tion and the integrity of the lands of indigenous peoples.

In its paragraph 4, the aforementioned text sets forth that:
“The law, as concerns the wishes of the members of an ¢jido of a
community to adopt the most suitable conditions for the exploi-
tation of the productive resources, will regulate the exercise of
rights of members of the community over the land and the ejida-
tario over its part (...) and as concerns its ejidatarios, will regulate
transmission of land rights to other members of the community.
Likewise, it will set the conditions according to which the ejido
assembly grants to each member influence concerning its parcel.
In the case of transfer of parcels, the right of preference set forth
in the law will be respected”.

In conformity with the Agrarian Law (articles 64 and 107), the
land of the ejidos and the communities which are set aside by the
Assembly for Human Settlement are inalienable and non-transfer-
rable since they are a part of the irreducible patrimony of the com-
munity. Lands for building are the property of their holders, wheth-
er these are ejidos or members of a community, as set forth in the
Federal Law on Agrarian Reform of 1972 and previous agrarian
codes (1934, 1940 and 1942). Lands for collective use, governed by
one or the other form of social property are inalienable, non-trans-
ferable and non-attachable, except in cases where the communal
Agrarian Assembly — the highest authority — decides to transfer
when and as it sees fit to do, to civil or commercial enterprises (arti-
cles 74,75, 99 and 100). Land subdivided in parcels within domains
(ejidos) belong to their allocates, who exercise a right of mainte-
nance, use and usufruct. The law states the procedure to follow in
order to transfer these lands and the relevant rights (articles 76-86).
In conformity with article 101 of the previously mentioned law, the
communal form of ownership implies the individual status of the
member, a status which gives the latter the use and possession of his
parcel, and right of transfer to parents or next-of-kin. Article 56 of
the Agrarian Law states that it is for the communal Agrarian As-
sembly, collective domains or communities to designate its zones of
parcels for common use or for settlement. Concerning land for col-
lective use, it is also up to the assemblies to define the rights of
members, the rule being that these rights are presumed to be grant-
ed on the basis of equality, unless the Assembly decides to attribute
the parcels proportionately, according to the financial contribution,
the work and the financial resources of each individual. In keeping
with the preceding, and in direct connection with the legal safe-
guards under the law, the Agrarian National Register delivers cer-
tificates attesting to the rights on land for collective use. These cer-
tificates state the name of the holder as well as his percentage of
rights over the lands for collective use, as provided in the agree-
ments of the assemblies. It should be mentioned that certificates
confirming the rights on lands for collective use do not state a spe-
cific surface area for their holders, since land for collective use is
worked collectively, for the benefit of the agrarian community as a
legal person and the ejidatarios or members of the community in
their assigned proportion. It should be noted that the rules concern-
ing the use of collective land, as set forth in article 10 of the afore-
mentioned law, must be specified in the by-laws or communal stat-
ute, according to whether it is a ejido or a community.

As regards the devolution, transfer or conveyance of rights, if
the Agrarian Law authorizes the member of an ejido to transfer his
rights over a parcel as provided in article 80, this right simply allows
conveyance either to other ejidatarios or other members of the
same community, it being understood that the spouse and children
of the transferor exercise the same right. Likewise, the Agrarian
Law sets forth in article 47 that no ejidatario can hold rights over
parcels with a surface area greater than 5 per cent of the total land
of the ejido or the equivalent of a small holding. In the case of co-
emption, the Secretariat of Agrarian Reform orders, after review, a
member of an ejido to sell the excess within one year from notifica-

23/115


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169

tion of the decision. As is the case with devolution of land, articles
81-86 of the Agrarian Law govern the procedure for full and com-
plete accession to property. As regards communal property, under
article 101, the Agrarian Law provides for the transfer of rights, this
transfer being limited to parents or next of kin, but is not authorized
for third parties outside the community. Any devolution of lands or
accompanying rights which breach the Agrarian Law would be jus-
tifiable before the agrarian tribunals in such a manner that the
Commissariat for Agrarian Questions has in this regard the prerog-
atives of the Public Minister and would represent the accusation in
this context.

The sale of land is an historic phenomenon, which existed within
the agrarian communities prior to the constitutional reform. It is
necessary not to lose sight of the form which the conveyance of
property or the use of property or land has taken. According to
agrarian studies carried out on the ejidos by the Commissariat for
Agrarian Questions in 1998, a third of the ejidatarios have an agree-
ment for the use of their parcel which implies a transfer of the usu-
fruct on the land in the form of tenant farming, an annuity or a loan.
This signifies that the lands are worked by people other than their
owners. Likewise, the survey showed that this type of practice has
existed for many years and that they were only brought to light dur-
ing the reform of article 27 of the Constitution. In fact, nearly one-
third of the agricultural agreements pre-date the reform, 42 per
cent have been drawn up since the start of the process in 1993 in
collective property, and 26 per cent began when the Notarial Act
was deposited and ended with the last harvest. According to this
study, it can be seen that the forms according to which rural workers
to whom the collective property belongs acquire these lands are
determined by socio-economic and cultural conditions according to
the large regions of the country, and they have been reinforced by
the characteristics of the agrarian reform in each region.

(b) Concerning the working rights for mineral and forestry re-
sources, it must be noted that article 27 of the Constitution,
section VII, authorizes rural workers who belong to the com-
munity to join together with the State and third parties in au-
thorizing the use of these lands.

Section VIII(b) of this constitutional provision declares void:
“All concessions or sales of land, water or hills made by the
Secretariats of State for Development and Finance or any other
federal authority since 1 December 1876 to date, which enabled
invasion or illegal occupation of collective lands, communal
property, or other property belonging to inhabitants of villages,
hamlets, congregations, or communities”.

Likewise, the rural workers in villages of indigenous communi-
ties enjoy the right to work and manage forestry resources or those
of protective natural zones by virtue of laws on forestry from 1997
and on ecological balance and environmental protection in 1996 in
particular. The Government indicates that it is worried about the
supervision of the application of these standards and procedures
concerning the management of resources, the forms of participa-
tion, exploitation and administration as provided in the national
legislation.

(c) Concerning consultations with indigenous representatives on
constitutional reforms, as previously indicated to the Commit-
tee of Experts in the report sent in 1998, several drafts of consti-
tutional reforms were submitted in March 1998 to Congress,
with a view to recognizing indigenous rights. The impetus for
the process of constitutional reform which recognizes the rights
of indigenous peoples in the context of their cultural difference,
began a little more than a decade ago in local Constitutions, in
criminal codes and codes of procedure, regulatory laws, organic
laws relating to judicial power, organic municipal laws and oth-
er texts in the federal and state framework.

(d) Independently of the information that the Government will
provide in its next report, it should be noted that, concerning
the abuse of indigenous migrant workers, the Government has
held consultations with the responsible authorities and, when it
has received this information, it will bring it before the Com-
mittee of Experts.

Concerning indigenous migrant workers, it should be noted that
the Government has adopted the following measures in order to
make known the labour rights applicable to indigenous communities:
— publication and distribution among the core indigenous popula-

tion of a document entitled “Labour rights and obligations for

rural workers”;

— translation of information on labour rights in the different indig-
enous languages with the help of the INI;

— communication of information on labour rights by means of
18 radio broadcasts by the INI;

— creation and management of training scholarships and advice on
commercialization of productive projects. In order to identify

23/116

the needs concerning indigenous women workers, links were set
up with programmes with the Secretariat of Labour, such as the
programme for training of unemployed workers (PROBECAT),
and the programme of qualification and integral modernization
(CIMO), as well as the Council for Standardization and Certifi-
cation (CONOCER);

— the training of government officials in charge of explaining la-
bour rights of indigenous populations, such as rural teachers of
the National Council of Educational Development (CONAFE).
Likewise, measures have been taken with the Autonomous Uni-
versity of Chapingo to train social workers;

— the creation of a commission in charge of analysing the problems
and determining the strategies for implementation of social se-
curity law. This commission includes organizations of employers,
rural sector agricultural workers and the Federal Government
through the Secretariat of State for Labour and Social Security
and the Mexican Institute of Social Security;

— the promotion and defence of labour rights;

— the holding of seminars, including the “Seminar on Migrant Ag-
ricultural Workers” which was held in Los Angeles, California,
in February 1999.

Moreover, in the field of safety and health, as well as conditions
of work, the federal labour delegations of the Secretariat of State
for Labour and Social Security have referred to a total of 4,237 in-
spections carried out in all the States of the Republic, in their
monthly reports sent from January to September 1999.

Finally, concerning paragraph 5 of the observation, the Commit-
tee requests the Government to re-examine the measures taken to
overcome the problems which indigenous people have had to face
in the country. Throughout this commentary, the Government has
indicated the mechanisms of permanent dialogue set up between it
and the indigenous peoples at different levels. The mechanisms en-
able the description and the application of public policies, to find
solutions to conflicts, and to meet the requests of the indigenous
peoples. It is important to underline that these processes of change
do not take place overnight. The Government will continue its ef-
forts to improve the living conditions of indigenous peoples. As the
Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, 1989 (No. 169), sets
forth in Article 2, with the participation of the indigenous popula-
tion, Mexico has accepted to develop coordinated and systematic
action with a view to protecting the rights of these people and guar-
anteeing the respect of their integrity. The Government indicates
that it has demonstrated an openness in this regard at all levels. As
an example, concerning the legislative power, it is appropriate to
underline the plurality of parties present on committees in charge
of indigenous peoples, both in the local Congress and in the federal
Congress. The politico-social participation of indigenous people in
Mexico has been gradually set up, particularly in the political, pub-
lic administration, education, culture, health and social framework.
Numerous measures have been taken to facilitate full, fair and equi-
table development of indigenous people, which have contributed to
the improvement of their well-being and their standard of living.
Progress and results in the policies and the measures taken by the
Government of Mexico have taken place, and it should be under-
scored that these coincide with engagements resulting from the ap-
plication of the Convention. The interaction between the Govern-
ment of Mexico and the indigenous communities has been fruitful,
open and responsible. This demonstrates that article 4 of the Con-
stitution of Mexico is applied in this respect and ILO Convention
No. 169 is incorporated in the national legislation. The Govern-
ment will continue to work with the International Labour Organi-
zation in this regard.

In addition, before the Conference Committee, a Government
representative stated that the observation of the Committee of Ex-
perts did not cast doubt on the compliance of the Government with
the obligations it had assumed under the Convention. The Commit-
tee indicated that information on its comments should be provided
by Mexico in its next report. The Government was already working
on this report which would be submitted, as required, in 2001. For
that purpose, it was holding consultations with all the institutions
concerned with the situation of indigenous peoples. She reaffirmed
the willingness of her Government to cooperate with the ILO.

The comments made by the Committee of Experts referred to
the dialogue of the Mexican Government with indigenous commu-
nities and to three specific cases: the Huichol Indian Community,
the indigenous communities in the Uxpanapa Valley and a general
report on the situation of indigenous peoples in Mexico. She ex-
pressed surprise with regard to the comments of the Committee of
Experts concerning the alleged expressions of concern by the Gov-
erning Body with regard to an “apparent lack of real dialogue be-
tween the Government and indigenous communities”. She noted
that the documents on the basis of which the Governing Body
adopted its decisions on the cases to which the Committee of Ex-


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169

perts referred did not contain such terms. There was permanent di-
alogue between the Mexican Government and its indigenous popu-
lations, which formed part of its public policies and was a character-
istic of the country which had been in existence before its accession
to Convention No. 169, the ratification of which marked the com-
mitment of the Mexican State to its indigenous peoples.

In Mexico, 10 per cent of the population was indigenous. Most of
them lived in rural areas in widely dispersed communities. Forty-
five per cent of these communities consisted of fewer than 99 inhab-
itants and were located in mountainous or tropical areas, which
made it difficult for them to have access to the basic social infra-
structure of health, education and roads. A priority objective of the
Mexican Government was to develop a new relationship between
the State, society and indigenous peoples based on dialogue and
respect for cultural and linguistic diversity, as set out in the National
Development Plan, 1995-2000. This Plan set out the main lines of
the current Government’s social, political and economic develop-
ment policy. It also provided for the integral participation of all so-
cial groups in the improvement of the living conditions of indige-
nous peoples with a view to preserving their cultural and social
heritage and ensuring recognition of their individual and collective
rights.

With regard to the issue of the legal recognition of the rights of
indigenous populations, she indicated that Mexico had commenced
in 1986 a process of legislative reform at the federal, state and mu-
nicipal levels based on consultation and consensus with a view to
the recognition of the rights of indigenous peoples. This process had
been intensified during the 1990s and had led in the first place to the
reform of article 4 of the Constitution in 1992. This article recog-
nized the pluri-cultural composition of Mexico “with its origins in
its indigenous peoples” and established that “the law shall protect
and promote the development of their languages, cultures, usages,
customs, resources and specific forms of social organization, and
shall guarantee to their members effective access to the jurisdiction
of the State”. This had been followed by amendments at the federal
level, including the Agrarian Act, the General Education Act, the
General Act respecting ecological balance and the protection of the
environment, the Forest Act and the Copyright Act. This legislative
process had not been confined to the federal level. Up to this year,
some 16 of the 31 states of the Republic had adapted their constitu-
tions to incorporate the principles for the recognition of cultural
plurality set out in article 4 of the Constitution. The Federal Code
of Penal Procedure and a number of state penal codes had been
amended to include provisions envisaging the consideration of the
usages and customs of indigenous peoples as elements in their as-
sessment and to guarantee the presence of translators during legal
proceedings. Options were also being explored for the adoption of
legislation at the municipal level with a view to ensuring that the
reforms had a greater impact and achieved a substantial change in
the relations between the federal, state and municipal authorities
for the benefit of indigenous peoples.

Between 1995 and 1996, the national consultation had been held
on indigenous rights and participation, with the broad representa-
tion of indigenous peoples. The Federal Executive had introduced a
constitutional reform initiative in 1998 respecting indigenous rights
and culture which recognized the right of indigenous peoples to free
determination, in the sense of the autonomous capacity to take de-
cisions on, among other matters, the manner in which they lived in
common and organized themselves, the application of their legal
systems, the election of their authorities and the preservation of
their culture. It was the responsibility of the Congress to decide
upon and discuss this and other initiatives. At the international lev-
el, indigenous Mexican legislators participated actively in the
American Indian Parliament (PARLATINO) and the Inter-Parlia-
mentary Union. She emphasized that it was the traditional priority
of the Mexican Government to combat the social, economic and
educational backwardness of indigenous peoples. The national pro-
gramme to promote priority regions operated on a basis of dialogue
between the federal, state and municipal governments and social
and community organizations. This programme promoted integrat-
ed and sustainable processes of development in rural and indige-
nous regions affected by the highest levels of social exclusion
through the management and redistribution of economic resources.
The plan gave priority for immediate action to 35 regions, 22 of
which contained 51 per cent of the indigenous population. During
the course of 1999, the programme had channelled investments
worth over $900 million. This year, the amount would be over
$1,000 million. With regard to health care, between 1995 and 1999,
coverage had been extended in the indigenous areas of 24 states
through the provision of basic services which directly benefited
5 million indigenous persons. During the 1999-2000 school year,
basic education had been provided to over 1 million indigenous
children, who received school books free of charge in 36 indigenous
languages, as well as school equipment and learning materials.
During the same period, 129 editions of books in indigenous lan-

guages had been reprinted with a circulation of 1 million copies.
The programme of regional Indian funds of the National Indian In-
stitute was promoting local and regional development through pro-
duction projects developed by indigenous organizations of rural
producers. The management, administration, technical follow-up
and evaluation of these projects was also the responsibility of the
above organizations. Over the past five years, this programme had
covered 23 states, benefiting 11,583 organizations with 1.5 million
indigenous members.

The Government representative reaffirmed that the access to
justice and the promotion and defence of the human rights of indig-
enous peoples was also a priority of her Government, to which
great efforts and resources were assigned. The National Human
Rights Commission had established in 1998 a general support unit
to address the demands and needs of indigenous peoples. The Sec-
retariat of the Government, the Office of the Attorney-General of
the Republic, the Federal Public Legal Institute and the National
Indian Institute had signed an agreement to coordinate their activi-
ties and resources with a view to ensuring that indigenous persons
who were the victims of crimes at the federal level had access under
the best possible conditions to the jurisdiction of the State. Since
1995, a programme had been in operation to promote concerted
agreements respecting access to justice, through which the National
Indian Institute provided financing to indigenous organizations and
communities and to non-indigenous organizations which worked in
Indian regions with a view to promoting self-management in areas
such as legal defence, guidance, training and the dissemination of
information on rights. Through this programme, technical and fi-
nancial support had been provided to almost 1,000 indigenous civil
and community organizations.

She also referred to the civil registration programme, the objec-
tives of which were to bring the civil registration services closer to
indigenous persons; to train community promoters to facilitate the
delivery of birth, marriage and death certificates and reduce admin-
istrative requirements for the indigenous population. This pro-
gramme was particularly important in the case of migrant indige-
nous persons. Among the many activities undertaken to
disseminate information on indigenous rights, the Mexican Gov-
ernment, through the Labour Secretariat, the National Human
Rights Commission and the National Indian Institute had issued
publications and analyses of indigenous rights, including informa-
tion to promote the provisions of Convention No. 169. In 1999
alone, over 1,000 radio programmes had been broadcast in
954 towns in indigenous areas.

Land was the fundamental basis of indigenous and rural culture
and undoubtedly constituted a fundamental issue for the peoples
and the Government. Since the first decade of the twentieth centu-
ry, the Mexican revolutionary heritage had recognized that land
belonged to whomsoever worked it. It could therefore be claimed
that the first agrarian policy in Mexico had also been indigenous.
Through the distribution of agricultural land, thousands of groups
of rural workers had been provided with land for the upkeep of
their families. At the present time, there were 27,460 ejidos (collec-
tive lands) and 2,400 comunidades. Over 50 per cent of the national
territory was therefore under social ownership, which left less than
half for private property, national lands and agricultural and stock-
raising farms. The ejidos and comunidades in Mexico were two
forms of land ownership which were characterized by their legal
personality and inheritance rights. Indigenous peoples owned land
under all the forms of ownership recognized by the Mexican Consti-
tution. After 85 uninterrupted years of agrarian policies, the Gov-
ernment continued to endeavour to achieve the effective delivery
of agrarian justice. Agrarian tribunals had been established in 1992
and enjoyed autonomy, full jurisdiction and were obliged to take
into consideration the language, usages and customs of indigenous
persons in their proceedings and to ensure the presence of a transla-
tor for anyone who required one. In 1999, the agrarian tribunals
examined 30,664 cases of disputes concerning land holdings in eji-
dos and comunidades by indigenous populations. A satisfactory so-
lution was found in 82 per cent of these cases. The Agrarian Legal
Office, which had been set up in the same year, was the body re-
sponsible for the defence, representation and provision of free legal
advice to holders of ejidos and comunidades, workers in ejidos and
comunidades, daily agricultural workers and private landowners.
The Agrarian Legal Office worked with the National Agrarian
Registry to provide security of title for the ownership of rural lands.
With a view to ensuring legal security to the rights and lands in eji-
dos and comunidades, a programme had also been established for
the certification of the rights to ejidos and the titularization of un-
used land. The programme was a product of the reform of article 27
of the Constitution in 1992. The objective of the programme was to
regularize rights of workers in ejidos and comunidades and to de-
limit lands within agrarian zones. Government agencies which were
involved in agrarian issues, and particularly the assemblies of work-
ers in ejidos and comunidades, which were the highest bodies in

23/117


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169

agrarian zones, participated in the application of the programme.
The above assemblies decided upon the time, the manner and the
periods over which the certification and titularization process of
their lands and rights would be carried out.

The Government representative indicated that public policies
could not be carried out without the participation of indigenous
peoples and that Mexico was therefore envisaging mechanisms of
dialogue for their design and implementation. The representation
of indigenous peoples was guaranteed through their participation in
all political parties and in the federal and state legislative assem-
blies. For example, 40 per cent of the deputies were indigenous in
Oaxaca, 16 per cent in Quintana Roo, 15 per cent in the Federal
District and 10 per cent in Chiapas and Tabasco. This trend for wid-
er representation was also being extended to the municipal level.
Indigenous affairs commissions, composed of the various political
parties, existed in 56 per cent of the states of the Republic, including
those with the highest proportions of indigenous peoples. The Con-
gress of the Union also had a Commission on Indigenous Affairs.

She then referred to a number of the points set out in the obser-
vation of the Committee of Experts. Reference was made in para-
graph 2 to the land rights of the Huichol Indian Community in San
Andrés Cohamiata, Mezquitic Municipality, Jalisco. She recalled in
this respect that Mexico had already provided the ILO with infor-
mation on the occasion of a representation alleging non-compliance
with Convention No. 169. According to the representation, the au-
thorities had not returned to the Huichol community in San Andrés
Cohamiata lands which had historically been in their possession,
and particularly the area of the Huichol group of Tierra Blanca, the
ownership of which had been recognized to another agrarian area
in Nayarit. As the Committee of Experts was already aware, the
Huichol of Tierra Blanca obtained a protection order under the
terms of which the decision of the Unitary Agrarian Tribunal of
Tepic, Nayarit, was overturned. In complying with the protection
order, the case was currently at the stage of the presentation of evi-
dence before the same Tribunal. Information on the outcome would
be provided in the next report in 2001. In this respect, she empha-
sized that due attention had been paid to the Huichol people and
existing judicial bodies had been used. She also indicated that the
Jalicense support association for indigenous groups had represent-
ed and defended the persons concerned. This social organization
undertook managerial, advisory, training and defence activities in
agrarian matters and human rights in the Huichol region in the
states of Jalisco and Nayarit. Over a period of five years, it had re-
ceived from the National Indian Institute technical and financial
support amounting to around $100,000 within the context of the
programme promoting concerted agreements for access to justice.

She noted that paragraph 3 of the observation of the Committee
of Experts referred to a representation concerning the land rights of
Chinantecos indigenous persons relocated in the Uxpanapa Valley
in Veracruz. She stated that, in the same way as with other indige-
nous peoples, through its everyday work the Government was
strengthening channels of communication with Chinantecos indige-
nous persons relocated in the Uxpanapa Valley. The National Indi-
an Institute had supported the establishment and financed social
organizations, such as the Committee for the Defence of Chinan-
teco-Zoque-Totonaco Indigenous Rights and the Uxpanapa Indian
Council. These were organizations which protected the rights of
communities and promoted their economic and social develop-
ment. The Uxpanapa Valley Regional Indian Fund also supported
the process of organizing the communities and promoting their re-
gional development. The National Indian Institute had participated
in the establishment of the Uxpanapa Municipality in 1996.
Through the Regional Fund, it was currently channelling significant
resources to the region for public works, nutrition projects and so-
cial and economic development. At the end of 1999, the National
Indian Institute held diagnostic and planning workshops for infra-
structure, the results which made it possible to obtain support for
the opening of roads and the implementation of various agricultural
projects. She added that in the next few weeks a regional fund
would be established for Chinanteca to promote training and devel-
opment activities in the area with a gender perspective.

With regard to paragraph 4 of the observation, she stated that
the right to land was enjoyed by all Mexicans. The Mexican Consti-
tution established three forms of land ownership: national, private
and social. The lands of indigenous peoples could be owned under
any of these forms of ownership. The report of the Committee of
Experts had referred to the claims made by the Authentic Workers’
Front (FAT), which had erroneously alleged that the agrarian re-
form of 1992 had had the effect of making indigenous lands aliena-
ble, seizable and prescriptible. She denied that this was the case and
stated that the Mexican Constitution recognized the legal personal-
ity of communities on ejidos and comunidades and protected their
ownership of the land, both in terms of human settlement and pro-
ductive activities. It also protected the integrity of the lands of in-
digenous groups. The Agrarian Act provided that the assemblies of

23/118

agrarian areas were the entities which determined the possibility of
alienating their lands or their rights. In this way, the workers on eji-
dos were the ones who had the exclusive competence to decide
upon the alienation of their rights and lands. With regard to com-
munal ownership, the Agrarian Act permitted the cession of rights
to communal land, but provided that it could only be to the benefit
of family members and neighbours of the community. This meant
that the cession of rights was not permitted for the benefit of third
parties unrelated to the community. She emphasized that any dis-
pute in this respect could be taken to the agrarian tribunals.

Turning to the issue of rights to the exploitation of mineral and
forest resources, she stated that article 27 of the Constitution al-
lowed workers in ejidos and comunidades to establish associations
among themselves with the State and with third parties, as well as to
grant the right to use and benefit from their lands. Similarly, the
protection of the resources and the participation of indigenous peo-
ples and communities in activities related to the exploitation, man-
agement and administration of forest resources and resources in
protected natural areas were set out in the Forest Act, 1997, and the
Act of 1996 respecting ecological equilibrium and environmental
protection, among other legislation. The Government supervised
the application of rules respecting the type and management of re-
sources, forms of participation, exploitation and administration set
out in the law.

With reference to consultations with indigenous representatives
concerning constitutional reforms, she stated that the Government
had already reported that constitutional reform initiatives had been
submitted to the Congress of the Union in March 1998 for obtaining
the recognition of indigenous rights.

With regard to the dissemination of information on the rights of
indigenous migrant workers, the Government of Mexico was pub-
lishing and distributing documents such as the volume entitled “La-
bour rights and duties of agricultural workers”. Within the frame-
work of programmes of grants for vocational training, integrated
skills and the modernization and certification of vocational skills, a
service had been established to guide and manage the award of
grants for training and guidance in commerce and productive
projects, and for the training of community resource persons for the
dissemination of the labour rights of indigenous workers. A com-
mission had also been established to examine the problem and es-
tablish strategies to promote their right to social security.

She referred to paragraph 5 of the observation, in which the
Government was requested to re-examine the measures it was tak-
ing in regard to the problems encountered by indigenous peoples in
the country. In this respect, she recalled that many channels of dia-
logue existed in Mexico between the Government, indigenous peo-
ples and society. One of the major changes of the past decade had
been the development of public policies which focused on indige-
nous peoples as the agents of their own development and promoted
their cultural and linguistic diversity. All public policies respecting
indigenous peoples therefore included dialogue mechanisms for
their design and implementation. Indigenous peoples also enjoyed
high levels of representation in the Federal Congress and in local
Congress. These were real and effective institutions of dialogue. In
accordance with Article 2 of the Convention, the Government was
taking responsibility, with the participation of its indigenous peo-
ples, for the development of coordinated and systematic action to
protect their rights and ensure respect for their identity. For her
country, compliance with the terms of article 4 of the Constitution
also implied compliance with Convention No. 169. She emphasized
the amply demonstrated will of the Government to cooperate with
the ILO, particularly for the application of Convention No. 169.
The Government compiled its reports on the basis of broad consul-
tation processes. It dealt with complaints relating to specific cases
and carried out cooperative activities such as the “seminar on the
inspection of working conditions in the rural sector”, held in May
1999.

All the efforts which had been described above indicated the se-
ries of coordinated government processes and activities which
formed the historical, everyday and permanent work in relation to
indigenous peoples, communities and organizations at the various
levels through many institutions. These processes required time
and evaluation. The task was not easy, but awareness was high that
in order to carry through legislative action and programmes it was
necessary to maintain the political will and the co-responsibility of
the various actors in order to continue achieving the consensus
needed to promote the participation of indigenous persons in the
future of the country. This was a democratic and ongoing exercise
which touched on social, cultural, political and legal matters involv-
ing the citizens of Mexico.

The Worker members noted with interest the oral and written
information provided by the Government of Mexico. As the written
information submitted was voluminous and was received at a late
stage, they proposed to defer the examination of this document to
the Committee of Experts. They underscored that this case had


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C169

been suggested by the Workers’ group and it demonstrated their
effort to balance attention given by the Committee on the Applica-
tion of Standards to basic human rights cases and other difficult cas-
es. They were somewhat concerned by the possible inference that
could be drawn from the statement by the Government representa-
tive, Director of the National Indian Institute, that this case did not
reflect serious problems. With reference to the Government’s query
as to the basis for the Committee of Experts’ conclusions, he re-
called, in particular, paragraph 45(a) of the November 1999 report
of the tripartite committee set up to examine a representation un-
der article 24 (GB.276/16/3, November 1999). They emphasized
that, in their conclusions, the Committee of Experts had expressed
serious concerns by the apparent lack of dialogue between the Gov-
ernment and the indigenous peoples. Another main point was the
information submitted by the Authentic Workers’ Front (FAT)
which was still under scrutiny by the Committee of Experts. They
expressed concern over the fact that the Government did not seem
to attach sufficient importance to the grievances and dissatisfaction
voiced by the indigenous peoples. While they acknowledged and
had taken note of the efforts the Government had reported taking,
they maintained that the Government had not deployed sufficient
efforts, in particular towards establishing the appropriate climate of
consultation. They further noted, with interest, that this case had
been brought to the ILO by trade unions. However, neither one of
the larger employers’ and workers’ organizations in Mexico seemed
to have taken any interest in this case as their views had not been
made known to the Committee of Experts so far. In this context, the
Worker members quoted from paragraph 70 of the General Report
of the Committee of Experts in which the Committee emphasized
the importance it attached to the contribution by employers’ and
workers’ organizations to the task of the supervisory bodies. They
further considered it relevant to note that member States who rati-
fied a Convention should be able to implement their obligations
forthwith. A ratification could not only be seen as a declaration of
good intentions. They concluded by expressing support for the pro-
posal by the Committee of Experts that the Government request
technical assistance from the International Labour Office (para-
graph 5 of the observation by the Committee of Experts). Such as-
sistance could represent a good starting point for a dialogue to seek
a solution to the serious problems this case reflected. They under-
scored the importance of a broad representation in such a dialogue
including, inter alia, the small trade unions who brought this case to
the attention of the ILO and genuine representatives for the indig-
enous peoples concerned.

The Employer members recalled that this Committee had previ-
ously discussed the case of Mexico in 1995. At that time, informa-
tion of serious problems involving Chiapas had been received from
organizations representing indigenous communities and from the
National Indian Institute. Noting that the Committee was now ex-
amining different issues, the Employer members thanked the Gov-
ernment representative for supplying a detailed report on the issues
raised. The Committee of Experts had included four points in its
observation, but had not provided sufficient detail. Accordingly,
this Committee could not evaluate the issues in depth. With regard
to the issue of the land rights of the Huichol community, the Em-
ployer members noted the Government’s indication that a judicial
appeal (amparo) was being pursued and that the indigenous peo-
ples’ rights had been recognized in that case. Noting that special
agrarian courts existed in Mexico to address such land rights issues
and resolve disputes, the Employer members considered that this
special court system offered an effective form of assistance. Turning
to another issue of land rights concerning the Uxpanapa Valley in-
digenous communities, who had been displaced following the con-
struction of a dam, the Employer members noted that this problem
was longstanding. Noting that the situation had not been resolved,
the Employer members indicated that a real dialogue between the
Government and the indigenous community might be necessary, as
suggested by the Committee of Experts. Regarding the Govern-
ment’s conclusion of agreements with multinational enterprises al-
lowing exploitation of mineral and forestry resources on indigenous
lands, the Employer members noted that the Committee could only
hold an interim discussion on this point, as insufficient information
had been supplied.

The Employer members noted that the two representations
brought before the Governing Body had led to the adoption of con-
clusions and recommendations suggesting that the Government en-
gage in dialogue with the indigenous communities to resolve issues
in accordance with the consultative spirit on which the Convention
was based. Noting that consultation appeared to be the main issue
of this case and was stressed in the closing paragraphs of the Com-
mittee of Experts’ comments, the Employer members pointed out
that, according to the Director of the National Indian Institute, the
institute’s main activity was in fact to develop and establish such a
dialogue with the indigenous communities. The Committee should
therefore express its hope that the necessary measures would be

developed and expedited so that tangible problems could be re-
solved. The Employer members requested the Government to pro-
vide detailed information on the issues raised by the Committee of
Experts.

The Employer member of Mexico expressed full support for the
report presented by the Government representative. He said that
Mexican employers witnessed and were protagonists in the efforts
made by the Government to maintain social dialogue and promote
investment in the most isolated regions of the country, in which in-
digenous peoples predominated, with a view to ensuring their eco-
nomic and social integration with the rest of the population. For this
purpose, the development of private initiative was being promoted
in these areas through fiscal incentives and many types of facilities
to encourage the installation of industry. In this way, employment
and the recruitment of local inhabitants was being encouraged.
Nevertheless, he warned that the subject covered by the Conven-
tion lent itself to all types of rhetoric and manipulation by interests
which were completely unrelated to the issue. It was no surprise
that so-called workers’ organizations, with a view to gaining notori-
ety, claimed to submit complaints concerning disputes of which they
had no knowledge. It would be very different if the ethnic groups
concerned had submitted a complaint setting out in detail the mat-
ter which was of concern to them. He emphasized that in Mexico
the fundamental rights of indigenous peoples were recognized and
respected and that they were considered to be an important part of
the population. He added that employers were interested in devel-
oping sources of employment in the most isolated parts of the coun-
try. He stated that the Convention was fully applied in a context of
dialogue, with the participation of the various social partners. Final-
ly, he expressed the view that the additional report requested by the
Committee of Experts from the Government would be sufficient to
respond to the points raised by the Conference Committee.

The Worker member of Mexico indicated that the Confedera-
tion of Mexican Workers, like the National Peasants’ Confedera-
tion and the Indigenous Council, had taken part alongside the Gov-
ernment in the legislative reform process through discussions and
dialogue with various legislative bodies at the federal, state and lo-
cal levels. At the state level it had been decided to draft community
laws. He pointed out that more than half of Mexico’s states had
amended their constitutions to respect the principles of the Con-
vention. It was important to observe that workers, peasants and in-
digenous peoples belonged to the Union Congress, whose decisions
were taken jointly. The fact that Mexico had more than 100 distinct
indigenous groups within its borders, each with its own language
and customs, posed a serious problem. Those communities were
open to interference from the outside not only by groups seeking to
safeguard human rights but also from every sort of religious sect
taking advantage of the situation to pursue its own interests. Peace
and order could only be maintained under such circumstances in the
context of respect for the law. Otherwise, the situation would de-
generate into a large-scale conflict which, understandably, no one
wanted. To conclude, the Worker member stated that a dialogue
was under way and the problems were being addressed slowly, but
productively.

The Worker member of Brazil indicated that he was speaking
out of solidarity for the Mexican people and because there was also
a high number of indigenous peoples in his country. He welcomed
the statement by the Government representative. He stated that it
was important to examine whether the activities and policies which
had been described were in conformity with the Convention. He
recalled the importance of one of the basic objectives of the Con-
vention, namely that indigenous peoples should participate in the
development of the policies applicable to them and should be con-
sulted through appropriate procedures. In this respect, he shared
the concern of the Committee of Experts with regard to the devel-
opment of Mexican public policies which did not respect this princi-
ple. He emphasized that consultation required institutionalized
mechanisms which were freely accessible to all organizations. An-
other aspect referred to in previous years by the Committee of Ex-
perts had been the legal and constitutional reforms which could
have the effect of negating or restricting the legal scope of the pro-
visions of the Convention. In that regard, he recalled that a country
that ratified a Convention undertook to give it full effect in national
law and could not therefore introduce reforms which undermined
its application. With regard to Articles 8 to 12 of the Convention, he
recalled that in previous years the Committee of Experts had ex-
pressed concern at the large number of indigenous persons who
were in prison in the State of Oaxaca without having been found
guilty. With regard to Articles 13 to 19 of the Convention, it had
requested information from the Government concerning whether
the ownership and possession of the land was guaranteed for indig-
enous communities. In respect of Article 20 of the Convention,
which dealt with the recruitment and conditions of employment of
indigenous peoples, it had noted that it was regrettable that wage
discrimination still existed and needed to be eliminated. Finally, he

23/119



reaffirmed that an essential element of the Convention consisted of
the holding of consultations with representative organizations. He
added that where there was no certainty of being able to work with
independent trade unions, it could not be said that the Convention
was being applied.

Another Government representative, with reference to the in-
tervention by the Worker members, said that there had perhaps
been a misunderstanding when the other Government representa-
tive, in her statement had referred to the observation of the Com-
mittee of Experts which indicated that concern had been “ex-
pressed by the Governing Body over an apparent lack of real
dialogue between the Government and the indigenous communi-
ties”. She had stated that the above statement did not come from
the documents prepared for the Governing Body and that it was
certainly an error on the part of the Committee of Experts. While
the Committee of Experts had indeed expressed concern at the lack
of dialogue, this was an unjustified concern since, as had been men-
tioned, there were numerous channels of dialogue. In contrast with
the views expressed by the Worker members he denied his Govern-
ment was minimizing the problem and emphasized that it was
aware that the indigenous people had been exploited and that it was
endeavouring to resolve the heritage of 500 years. For this purpose,
the Constitution had been amended, new programmes had been
implemented and funds and policies developed in favour of this un-
derprivileged category of the population. It was not the intention of
the Government to ignore this situation nor to remain inactive. It
was not possible to expect that the poverty which existed in his
country, and particularly in indigenous populations, could be re-
solved in the short term. The situation was a phenomenon of under-
development and efforts were being made to resolve it. He affirmed
that Mexico had not ratified the Convention prematurely, as stated
by the Worker members. When it had done so, all the provisions of
the Convention had been covered in national legislation. Finally, he
emphasized that none of the supervisory bodies of the ILO had stat-
ed that Mexico had violated the Convention.

Another Government representative emphasized that no at-
tempt was being made by her Government to minimize the issue of
indigenous peoples, which constituted an important problem in re-
spect of which gradual progress was being made towards achieving
results. She did not agree with the view expressed by the Worker
members that the measures taken for the benefit of indigenous peo-
ples could be described as completed. These were issues of justice
and development, and it was never possible to consider that a task
had been completed. If that was so, the ILO would not exist. With
regard to the question of consultations, she indicated that they were
not only common practice in her country, but also constituted an
obligation for Mexican public servants. All policies and activities
were organized and undertaken in consultation with the various in-
digenous communities. In response to the question raised by the
Worker member of Brazil on land ownership, she cited part of arti-
cle 27 of the Constitution under the terms of which “the legal per-
sonality of population units shall be recognized and their ownership
of the land shall be protected. The integrity of the lands of indige-
nous groups shall be protected”. She emphasized that indigenous
persons were not only entitled to own land and to the protection of
their ownership, but also to recognition of the legal personality of
their communities. She added that the National Indian Institute and
the Social Development Secretariat were national consultative
bodies which contributed to the dialogue on self-development
projects, technical assistance and human rights, among other mat-
ters. A new body had recently been created with the participation
of 50 representatives of 35 indigenous regions and in which 17 dif-
ferent languages were spoken. These were examples of institution-
alized and pluri-cultural consultation bodies.

The Worker members expressed their full appreciation of the
difficulties caused by the level of poverty in Mexico referred to by
the Government representative. They disagreed, however, with the
inference that poverty was or could be seen as the basic explanation
for the problems at issue. Although they agreed that it was essential
to obtain further information on this case, and that technical assist-
ance from the ILO usefully could contribute thereto, they reiterat-
ed that one of the main problems in this case was the apparent lack
of dialogue with the indigenous peoples concerned.

The Employer members noted the statement by the Govern-
ment representative that numerous measures had been taken in or-
der to resolve the problems encountered with respect to indigenous
and tribal peoples. To this effect, an amendment to the Constitu-
tion, amendments of legislation and other measures had taken
place. However, the Committee was not in a position to determine
whether these measures were sufficient to protect the rights of in-
digenous and tribal peoples. This was also due to the particular
character of the Convention which provided for complex measures
to be taken by a ratifying State. Therefore, this discussion had rath-
er an interim character which nevertheless was valuable as it should
encourage the Government to take prompt action, and contributed

23/120 NEXT

to creating a greater awareness of the problems of indigenous and
tribal peoples. In conclusion, they stated that the Government
should provide additional information in a report.

The Committee noted the detailed written and oral information
supplied by the Government representatives, and the discussion
which took place. The information provided indicated that the Gov-
ernment was taking active measures to address the questions raised
by the Committee of Experts, but that continuing efforts were still
required. It noted with concern that the Governing Body, in its con-
clusions on two representations under article 24 of the Constitution,
had evoked problems in carrying out effective consultations between
the Government and representatives of indigenous peoples. Similar
questions had been raised in comments by workers’ organizations, as
had continuing allegations of labour abuses practised against rural
indigenous workers and questions concerning the land rights of in-
digenous peoples. The Committee urged the Government to contin-
ue to provide detailed information on measures to the Committee of
Experts to resolve the numerous questions raised by the Committee
of Experts concerning the application of the Convention, with the
technical assistance of the Office, if necessary.

Convention No. 98: Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining,
1949

Saint Lucia (ratification: 1980)

Convention No. 111: Discrimination (Employment and
Occupation), 1958

Afghanistan (ratification: 1969)

The Worker members recalled that, according to the usual work-
ing methods the case of a country, the Government of which had not
responded to the invitation of the Conference Committee, was ex-
amined on the last day of the discussion of individual cases. The
objective was not to examine the substance of these cases, given the
impossibility of having a discussion with the governments con-
cerned, but to underline in the Conference Report the importance
of the issues raised and the necessary measures for the re-establish-
ment of dialogue. The report would mention for each country the
case in question.

The Worker members observed that the Committee of Experts
had been drawing the attention of this Committee since 1997 to the
reports which had been sent to it by various sources concerning the
serious problems of gender discrimination which were culminating
in the violation of Convention No. 111 by the Government of Af-
ghanistan. The Worker members expressed once again their regret
and their grave concern at not having been able to discuss this situ-
ation with the Government and which merited the undivided atten-
tion of this Committee. It was regrettable that the efforts undertak-
en by the ILO had not succeeded up to now. The ILO and the whole
international community should take their responsibilities with
greater conviction and force and increase their pressure on the
Government of Afghanistan.

Regarding the application of Convention No. 98 by Saint Lucia,
the Worker members recalled that this case had been included on
the list because of the existence of violations of the right to collec-
tive bargaining and anti-union discrimination, actions against which
there was no protection. For the last nine years, the Government of
Saint Lucia had not sent a single report on the application of this
Convention. It appeared, however, from the written information
communicated by the Goverenment that the latter had transmitted
a copy of an act respecting the registration, status and recognition
of workers’ and employers’ organizations. The Committee of Ex-
perts should examine this law and its application in practice.

The Employer members regretted that some countries had not
appeared before the Committee, despite being requested to do so
in relation to the application of ratified Conventions. In this regard,
they referred specifically to Afghanistan and Saint Lucia, noting
that this was not the first time that they had failed to appear. These
countries had been placed on the list of individual cases due to the
Committee of Experts’ concerns regarding their non-application of
ratified Conventions. The Employer members considered this fail-
ure to appear as negative behaviour towards this Committee and
the ILO as a whole. It was one of the worst forms of deliberate ob-
struction of the work of the supervisory machinery. The Employer
members deplored this lack of cooperation in relation to the Com-
mittee of Experts and the entire Organization.

The Worker members, so that the report of the Committee
should reflect this point, declared that they were certain that the
Committee would also once again wish to request the Director-
General to invite the Chairman of the Committee of Experts to at-
tend next year’s general discussion as an observer.


http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C98
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111
http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C98

	Contents
	PART ONE
	PART TWO

